MODELLING CURRENT AND FUTURE SUITABLE HABITATS FOR MISHMI TAKIN AND BHUTAN TAKIN IN THE EASTERN HIMALAYAS

SUJATA SUNUWAR June, 2021

SUPERVISORS: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tiejun Wang Drs. Raymond Nijmeijer

MODELLING CURRENT AND FUTURE SUITABLE HABITATS FOR MISHMI TAKIN AND BHUTAN TAKIN IN THE EASTERN HIMALAYAS

SUJATA SUNUWAR Enschede, The Netherlands, June, 2021

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation.

Specialization: Natural Resources Management

SUPERVISORS: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tiejun Wang Drs. Raymond Nijmeijer

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ir. Thomas A. Groen (Chair, University of Twente)

Dr. Ce Zhang (External examiner, Lancaster University, UK) Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tiejun Wang (First supervisor, University of Twente) Drs. Raymond Nijmeijer (Second supervisor, University of Twente)

DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

ABSTRACT

The Mishmi takin (Budorcas taxicolor taxicolor) and the Bhutan takin (Budorcas taxicolor whitei) are endemic to the eastern Himalayas. They are the two least studied subspecies of the takin (Budorcas taxicolor) and listed as Vulnerable species by the IUCN Red List. Despite the fact that both subspecies are legally protected in their range, their population continues to decline due to poaching, habitat loss and fragmentation over the last few decades. In this study, I modelled current suitable habitats for both Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas using ecological niche modelling, and identified the key environmental variables influencing their potential distribution. Furthermore, I tested the niche similarity between these two subspecies and also predicted the potential impact of future climate change on them. The results show that the current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin is 28,154 km² and 15,314 km², respectively. The key environmental variables determining the habitat suitability for the two subspecies are different. For Mishmi takin, precipitation seasonality and the standard deviation of NDVI are the two most important factors. In the case of Bhutan takin, the needleleaf forest and isothermality are the two major factors. The result also shows that the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are similar but not the same. The future climate change will have a significant negative impact on Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas. The suitable habitat for the Bhutan takin is expected to disappear completely in the area, while the remaining suitable habitat for the Mishmi takin will also be very few. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first study that predicted the current and future suitable habitat for both Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas. The findings of this study provide an important scientific basis for conservation planning of these two subspecies and its associated ecosystem in this region.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Tiejun Wang, for positively replying to my first immature email when I was still unsure of how or what I wanted to do my thesis on. He patiently listened to me babble of how I lacked in so many ways with my understandings and skills in GIS, Remote sensing applications, statistics, and many others. Then, he said, "It's not a problem that you don't know something. It's a problem if you don't learn and improve", and he steered my confused head to clarity. I ended up choosing this wonderful thesis topic under his excellent guidance as my first supervisor. He was always attentive to my queries, supportive of ideas I wanted to try, critical to my blunders, and encouraged me to read more to explore the field of species distribution modelling. I am forever grateful to you and your words of wisdom.

Oftentimes, all you need is a warm encouragement to keep your spirit going, and I would like to sincerely thank my second supervisor, Drs. Raymond G. Nijmeijer for showing such encouragement and smiles during our meetings. He never failed to ask how am I doing amidst the covid lockdown and pressure of study. He always gave feedback from a new perspective that added value to my research. His ideas on how to improve writing helped me overcome my tortoise speed of writing. I will always be thankful to you for showing encouragement towards me and my work.

I am still in awe of the grand support that I received from Wildlife Trust of India (WTI), Wildlife Conservation Society - Myanmar Program (WCS), Yunnan Normal University in China, and Nature Conservation Division (NCD), Wangchuck Centennial National Park (WCNP), and Jigme Dorji National Park (JDNP) under the Ministry of Agriculture and Forests of Bhutan. I am especially thankful to focal persons from these esteemed organizations who shared their immensely valuable takin data for this study, Dr. Rahul Kaul from WTI, Mr. Than Zaw from WCS, Prof. Jinliang Wang from Yunnan Normal University, Mr. Letro from NCD, Mr. Lungten Dorji from WCNP, and Mr. Yonten Jamtsho from JDNP. It would have been impossible even to start this study without their valuable contributions. I earnestly thank them and their organizations for putting their trust in the purpose of this study and me.

Despite the chaotic situations posed by the pandemic, I met some kind people who invested their precious time throughout my journey of learning. Ms. Haili Yu, PhD Candidate, ITC was introduced to me by my first supervisor. She has never once hesitated to share her wealth of knowledge and experience with me, be it during the day or in the middle of the night. Mr. Luíz Fernando Esser, PhD Student, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, who I met through the SDM google group. He diligently replied to all my emails, clarifying my doubts and directing me to useful simplified materials regarding the topic. Mr. Dan L. Warren, Researcher, Okinawa Institute of Science and Technology, kindly answered my questions associated with his R package called ENMTools. Gratitude to my friends from ITC who treated me like their family. I wish to meet these kind-hearted people one fine day in the future. Until then, I would like to convey my immense gratitude for giving your valuable time in my quest for learning.

The scholarship opportunity that I availed from the Orange Knowledge Programme (OKP), Dutch global development programme made it financially possible for me to study and complete this thesis in ITC, University of Twente, Netherlands. I also received support from the Royal Government of Bhutan in the form of study leave from my job. Further, I received knowledge from the faculty of NRS department, ITC. I will remember to pay my gratitude through useful research in the future.

Lastly, thanks to my beloved family for being healthy and happy. Your well-being allowed me to concentrate on my purpose here peacefully. Thank you for always believing in me and my goals in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Intro	duction	1
	1.1.	Background	1
	1.2.	Problem Statement	4
	1.3.	Research objectives	5
	1.4.	Research questions	5
	1.5.	Research hypotheses	5
2.	Mate	rials and Methods	7
	2.1.	Study area	7
	2.2.	Species data	8
	2.3.	Environmental variables	9
	2.4.	Collinearity analysis	13
	2.5.	Ecological niche modelling	15
	2.6.	Model performance assessment	18
	2.7.	Jackknife test	19
	2.8.	Ecological niche similarity analysis	19
	2.9.	Future climate change impact analysis	20
3.	Resu	lts	23
	3.1.	Model performance and predicted current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin	23
	3.2.	Key environmental variables determining habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin	26
	3.3.	Ecological niche similarity between Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin	31
	3.4.	Impact of future climate change on habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin	31
4.	Discu	1ssion	36
	4.1.	Currently available suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhuntan takin	36
	4.2.	The key environmental variables affecting habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are	
		different	37
	4.3.	The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are not identical	37
	4.4.	Impact of future climate change impact on Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin	38
5.	Conc	lusions	40

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Geographical location of the study area in the Eastern Himalayas7
Figure 2: The geographical distribution of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin occurrence points used for the
study
Figure 3: The correlation matrix of environmental variables after collinearity analysis. Red indicates
negative correlation and blue indicates positive correlation. Darker the colour, stronger the relation and
vice-versa
Figure 4: Result of collinearity analysis showing correlation matrix for variables used for modelling the
future suitable habitat of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin (left), and result of multicollinearity test showing
VIF values for each of the variables (right)
Figure 5 : Map showing the current suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern
Himalavas
Figure 6: Map showing the current habitat suitability for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas
Figure 7 : Map showing the current suitable and unsuitable habitat for Bhutan takin in the Eastern
Himalayas25
Figure 8: Map showing the current habitat suitability for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas
Figure 9 : Importance of environmental variables in modelling the habitat suitability for Mishmi takin in
Eastern Himalayas. The "With only variable" shows the result of model when a single variable is used in
isolation. The "Without variable" shows the effect of removing a particular variable from the full model.
Figure 10: Response curves show the relationship between habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and an
environmental variable. These curves show how the response changes for a particular variable used in
isolation
Figure 11: Importance of environmental variables in modelling the habitat suitability for Bhutan takin in
Eastern Himalayas. The "With only variable" shows the result of model when a single variable is used in
isolation. The "Without variable" shows the effect of removing a particular variable from the full model.
Figure 12: Response curves show the relationship between habitat suitability of Bhutan takin and an
environmental variable. These curves show how the response changes for a particular variable used in
isolation
Figure 13: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas for
current and future (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)
Figure 14: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas for
current, and showing the distribution range contraction, range expansion and area of no change under
future climate change scenarios (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)
Figure 15: Map showing the core range shift for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas under future
climate change scenarios (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)
Figure 16: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas for
current and future (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)

LIST OF TABLES

I able 1: List of potential environmental variables for modelling the current suitable habitat of Mishmi					
takin and Bhutan takin					
Table 2: Multicollinearity analysis showing VIF < 10 for each variable					
Table 3: Environmental variables used for modelling the current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and					
Bhutan takin in this study 15					
Table 4: Comparative analysis of model performance based on AUC with different number of					
background points 17					
Table 5: Comparative analysis of model performance based on AUC with different number of replicates					
Table 6: Feature type and regularization multiplier value for modelling the current suitable habitat of					
Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the study area					
Table 7: Model settings estimated for modelling the current and future suitable habitats of Mishmi takin					
and Bhutan takin under the future climate change scenarios 21					
Table 8: The critical D and I niche overlap values obtained from the similarity score for ENMs built from					
known occurrences of two species, and empirical D and I niche overlap values obtained from similarity					
scores for ENMs constructed using points drawn at random from the region defined as background range					
for one of the species					
Table 9: The critical D and I niche overlap values obtained from the similarity score for ENMs built from					
known occurrences of two species, and empirical D and I niche overlap values obtained from similarity					
scores between ENMs built from occurrences drawn randomly from the pooled occurrences for the two					
subspecies					

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AUC	Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve
BIOCLIM	Bioclimatic prediction and modelling system
BRT	Boosted regression tree
CBI	Continuous Boyce Index
DEM	Digital elevation model
GBIF	Global Biodiversity Information Facility
GCM	General circulation model
GIS	Geographic information system
GLM	Generalized linear model
Н	Hinge
HDX	Humanitarian data exchange
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
L	Linear
MARS	Multivariate adaptive regression-splines
MESS	Multivariate environmental similarity surface analysis
NDVI	Normalized difference vegetation index
NIR	Near-infrared
Р	Product
Q	Quadratic
RCP	Representative concentration pathway
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
SEDAC	Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center
Т	Threshold
TGS	Target Group Sampling
TSS	True skill statistic
VIF	Variance inflation factor

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Global biodiversity is rapidly declining with an unprecedented extinction rate (IPBES, 2019). The current rate of extinction is greater than the anticipated rate from the fossil record (Barnosky et al., 2011). This rate of biodiversity decline is clearly indicated to trigger the sixth mass extinction that occurred only five times in about 540 million years. It is driven by increasing anthropogenic activities through poaching, exploitation of natural resources, fragmentation and degradation of suitable habitat, the introduction of non-native species, and climate change (Barnosky et al., 2011; Ceballos et al., 2015; Tollefson, 2019; Wilson, 1989). The loss of biodiversity alters the magnitude, pace, and temporal continuity of material and energy flow in an ecosystem, which threatens the ecosystem productivity and services, affecting human well-being (Cardinale et al., 2012; Díaz et al., 2006). Therefore, urgent action is needed to safeguard the biodiversity on planet Earth. An approach to conserve biodiversity is to identify the biodiversity hotspots for priority conservation and management (Myers et al., 2000).

Globally, a total of 34 biodiversity hotspots are recognized, among which three fall in the Eastern Himalayas (Chhetri et al., 2010). The Eastern Himalayas is a mountain ecosystem that stretches across Kali Gandaki valley in central Nepal to northwest Yunnan in China, including Bhutan, northeast states and north Bengal hills in India, southeast Tibet in China, and northern Myanmar (Sharma et al., 2009). It covers an area of approximately 525,000 km². The Eastern Himalayan mountain has a complex topography due to the rapid change in altitude over small distances. As a result, the region supports diverse bioclimatic zones. This diversity in the bioclimatic zone enables many globally significant flora and fauna to inhabit the region due to which the Eastern Himalayas is acknowledged as an important global conservation priority area with high biodiversity and endemism (Basnet et al., 2019; Brooks et al., 2006; Chhetri et al., 2010). For instance, the Eastern Himalayas is home to some of the vulnerable species like takin (Budorcas taxicolor), endangered species like Bengal tiger (Panthera tigris), and critically endangered species like Namdapha flying squirrel (Biswamoyopterus biswasi) (IUCN, 2020). At the same time, the region is vulnerable due to its geographic location and fragile ecosystem (Chhetri et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2009). The Eastern Himalayas is located in between the densely populated countries that exert massive demand for natural resources to fuel people's livelihood and economic development (Chhetri et al., 2010). Mountains are one of the most fragile environments on Earth (Chettri et al., 2018). Many mountain ecosystems are greatly affected by land-use change and climate change, thereby experiencing a loss of biodiversity. The Eastern Himalayan mountain ecosystem is no exception. Therefore, the long-term viability of rich biodiversity in the Eastern Himalayas is in jeopardy due to poaching, land-use change, and climate change (Chhetri et al., 2010; Pandit et al., 2007; Sathyakumar & Bashir, 2010).

Poaching is rampant in the Eastern Himalayas (Sathyakumar & Bashir, 2010). Wild animals are illegally hunted for meat, medicine, and mainly for economic gain. For example, a study conducted in the Eastern Himalayan region in India revealed that animals like goral, serow, and takin are hunted and killed by people, which has led to local extinction or a decrease in the local population density of these animals (Dasgupta et al., 2010; Rawat & Sathyakumar, 2002). Likewise, poaching has reduced the number of tigers from 20,000 to 3000 despite significant efforts by conservationists to protect the wildlife (Anil et al., 2014). Mountain products have been traded for thousand years by the people in the border areas of the Himalayas (Oli, 2003). Access to modern infrastructure and economic activities have further increased the

illegal trade of wild species and animal parts. The intruders are at an advantage because the law enforcement agencies are not based locally. Therefore, controlling the illegal hunting and trade of species at present is a difficult task.

Within the last few decades, the land-use change in Eastern Himalayas from forest to other types of usages is noticeable (Chhetri et al., 2010). The expansion of agriculture brings socio-economic development but at the cost of biodiversity and ecosystem services (Penjor et al., 2020). For example, at the current rate of deforestation caused by agricultural expansion and human settlement in the Indian Himalayas, it is projected to have only about 10% of the land under dense forest cover (>40% canopy cover) by 2100, a scenario capable to wipe out almost a quarter of endemic species (Pandit et al., 2007). The fuelwood consumption for cooking and space heating activities is dominant in the Eastern Himalayas, apart from the slash and burn agriculture practice (Bhatt et al., 2016). The estimated forest growth is not able to accommodate fast fuelwood consumption. So, the forest is degraded and needs restoration to support the energy requirement and maintain the ecosystem balance.

The impact of climate change is more pronounced in the Himalayas (Sharma et al., 2009). Over the last 100 years, the Eastern Himalayas temperature increased more than the 0.74°C global average. There is a relatively more increase in temperature and precipitation with increasing elevation in the area (Manish et al., 2016; Sharma et al., 2009). Such variation in physical factors like temperature and precipitation causes an alteration in the hydrological cycle and vegetation community, leading to permanent shifts in biomes (Bellard et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2009). Consequently, species respond by shifting or shrinking their ranges and niches, physiological adaptation, or become extinct (Bellard et al., 2012; Telwala et al., 2013). For instance, future climate change is projected to bring more than 20 to 80 m per decade theoretical shift in altitudinal vegetation belts in the higher elevation of Eastern Himalayas considering the current estimated temperature rise of about 0.01°C to 0.04°C per year (Tse-ring et al., 2010). As a result, it is assumed that apart from some of the species that can adapt or shift, the ability of other species to keep pace with changing climate is minimal.

Monitoring and conserving biodiversity under threat is challenging due to the limited resources. So, the alternative is chosen in the form of indicator, umbrella, and flagship species (Simberloff, 1998). Large mammals are considered as indicator species to inform the ecosystem health and diversity because of their large area requirement and essential ecological role (Ceballos & Ehrlich, 2002; Simberloff, 1998; Sinclair, 2003). Recently, Dorji et al. (2018) evaluated 255 terrestrial mammals to assess the efficiency of existing protected areas in the Eastern Himalayas. The mammals were considered as the key indicators of anthropogenic impacts on the ecosystem. The assessment identified the 50 most threatened mammals in the Eastern Himalayas. Of these 50 threatened mammals, takin is the only mammal endemic to the Eastern Himalayas, has a wide range, and falls under the vulnerable category of the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species (Dorji et al., 2018; Song et al., 2008).

Takin is an ungulate mountain mammal that is endemic to the Eastern Himalayas (Sharma et al., 2015). Taxonomically, takins are notable for being a species that is in between sheep and cattle (Zeng et al., 2003). They are shy animals that live in remote areas away from human habitation. They have a large body with thick and strong legs, a greatly convex face with a heavy mouth and a very thick neck. Takin's body is covered with a shaggy coat that varies in colour among the subspecies. They dwell in dense forests, mainly between 1,500 to 3,600 m in temperate and alpine forests. Takin is a herbivore and grazes on various plants and often gathers around the mineral lick sites (Schaller et al., 1986; Wangchuk et al., 2016). They exhibit seasonal migration which is influenced by plant phenology and temperature change (Guan et al., 2013, 2015; Wang et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2008). There are four subspecies of takin (Neas & Hoffmann,

1987), namely Golden takin (*Budorcas taxicolor bedfordi*), Sichuan takin (*Budorcas taxicolor tibetana*), Mishmi takin (*Budorcas taxicolor taxicolor)*, and Bhutan takin (*Budorcas taxicolor whitet*). They are legally protected throughout their distribution range in China, India, Myanmar, and Bhutan. In China, the takin is listed as a Class I species of the National Wildlife Law (1988) that forbids people from hunting them (Guan et al., 2013). In India, takin is protected as a Schedule I species of the Wildlife Protection Act of India, 1972 (Dasgupta et al., 2010). Likewise, in Myanmar, takin is protected under the Completely Protected Species category in the Protection of Wildlife and Wild Plants and Conservation of Natural Areas Law, Myanmar 2020 (Government of the Union of Myanmar, 1994). In Bhutan, takin is protected under the Schedule I category of the Forests and Nature Conservation Act of Bhutan 1995 (Royal Government of Bhutan, 1995). Despite their legal protection status, studies have confirmed that the population of takin is declining throughout their distribution range due to poaching, deforestation, habitat fragmentation, and climate change (Dasgupta et al., 2010; NCD, 2019; Sangay et al., 2016; Sharma et al., 2015; Song et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2017). Therefore, effective conservation measures are required to minimize further declines.

The collection of information and identifying information gaps is a necessary step in planning for biodiversity conservation (Groves et al., 2002). Previous literatures have reported takin to be a poorly studied species, partially due to the poor access to their remote habitat in the forests (Adkin et al., 2012; Dhendup et al., 2016; Groves, 1992; Guan et al., 2013; Sangay et al., 2016; Song et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2008). Moreover, it is indicated that the focus was mainly on the two subspecies, namely Golden takin and Sichuan takin in China (Adkin et al., 2012; Guan et al., 2013, 2015; Hua et al., 2002; Schaller et al., 1986; Z.-G. Zeng et al., 2008, 2010). Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are the least studied subspecies (NCD, 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Sangay et al., 2016; Song et al., 2008; Wangchuk et al., 2016).

Mishmi takin is distributed across southeast of Tibet and northwestern Yunnan in China, Kachin state in northern Myanmar, and Arunachal Pradesh in India (Song et al., 2008). It is estimated that there are 3,500 Mishmi takins in Tibet. The estimated population for Mishmi takin in the rest of the distribution range is not yet available. A few prior studies on Mishmi takin provides the partial preference of their habitat and information on threats in their distribution range. For example, the report on Mishmi takin distribution in India by Dasgupta et al. (2010) concluded that Mishmi takin prefers dense forests. The poaching and hydropower plant development is negatively affecting the population of Mishmi takin in India. They are still present in Arunachal Pradesh although it is extinct in Sikkim. Yang et al. (2019) selected Mishmi takin as one of the five flagship species in their study to identify the priority conservation areas that fall in the transboundary biodiversity hotspot of China and Myanmar. The result revealed that 80% of the identified priority conservation areas for the five flagship species were outside the existing protected area boundary. The studies in Myanmar reported that Mishmi takin is one of the most hunted wild animals for meat and commercial gain (Rao et al., 2010, 2011). In addition to these threats from poaching and land-use change, China, Myanmar, and India are reported to be highly vulnerable to future climate change (Gao et al., 2001; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2011; Rao et al., 2013).

Bhutan takin is an animal of national importance and cultural value in Bhutan (NCD, 2019). Bhutan takin was announced as the national animal of Bhutan in 1985 (Royal Government of Bhutan, 1995). Across its distribution range, Bhutan takin is mostly found in northern region of Bhutan (Sharma et al., 2015; NCD, 2019). It was last reported to be seen in Sikkim, India in 1999 (Sharma et al., 2015). The distribution in Tibet, China is not clear. Their estimated population is 500 to 700 individuals (Sharma et al., 2015). The partial habitat preference and information on threats within Bhutan is available based on previous studies. For instance, Wangchuk et al. (2016) assessed the Bhutan takin's habitat and diet during summer within Jigme Dorji National Park. They concluded that Bhutan takin prefers the area near mineral licks, and

grazes on 68 different species of plants. Another study captured (through camera trap) the presence of Bhutan takin at an elevation of 4864 m in Wangchuck Centennial National Park, which is beyond the highest reported upper limit of 4200 m within Bhutan (Dhendup et al., 2016). NCD (2019) predicted Jigme Dorji National Park and Wangchuck Centennial National Park as the suitable winter habitat for Bhutan takin. Further, they reported a positive relationship with conifer forest and roughness, and a strong negative relationship with slope and road. Similarly, negative influence from road, power transmission lines, food resource competition, and the risk of zoonotic disease transmission from the domestic livestock was reported based on a questionnaire survey (Sangay et al., 2016). Apart from the previously reported threats to Bhutan takin, the impact of climate change is prominently felt with changing seasonal pattern and climate-induced disasters in Bhutan (Chhogyel & Kumar, 2018). Further, the vulnerability analysis of mammals to the impacts of land-use change and climate change predicted a reduced occurrence of species in future in Bhutan (Penjor et al., 2020).

The accurate identification of target species' suitable habitat for protection is a crucial scientific intervention for well-organized conservation planning (Huang et al., 2020). The ecological niche model (ENM) or species distribution model (SDM) is a commonly used tool to predict the suitable habitat of a species (Elith & Leathwick, 2009; Rodríguez-Castañeda et al., 2012). ENMs are based on the concept that there is a close relation of a species to its environment (Grinnell, 1917). It is a numerical model that combines environmental variables with species' occurrence data to estimate the species-environment relationship. The earliest computer-based species distribution modelling began in the mid-1970s (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). Since then, the subject has rapidly developed due to its applicability in fields other than predicting suitable habitats for species (Elith et al., 2011; Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). For instance, ENMs are used to predict the spread of disease (Peterson et al., 2002), for phylogeographic studies (Alvarado-Serrano & Knowles, 2014), for mapping the human ecological niche in the past glacial maximum in Europe (Banks et al., 2008), and to simulate the effects of frequent fire (Syphard et al., 2006). SDMs like the generalized linear model (GLM) has been in use since the early 1990s. It uses multiple-regression techniques to model complex ecological relationships. It is one of the stable models and uses presenceabsence data for modelling. However, the collection of absence data is complicated, sparse, and unreliable (Mackenzie, 2005). In contrast, presence-only data are widely available with the development of digital databases like herbarium records and museum databases (Graham et al., 2004). Therefore, modelling techniques to use presence-only data like the maximum entropy method (Maxent) and BIOCLIM modelling method were developed (Elith et al., 2011; Pearce & Boyce, 2006; Phillips et al., 2006). Maxent is a statistical machine learning method (Phillips et al., 2006). It has been widely used since its availability in 2004 (Elith et al., 2011). More than 1000 studies have applied the Maxent method for species distribution modelling (Merow et al., 2013). For example, study to assess the human impacts on endangered red pandas living in the Himalaya (Panthi et al., 2019), the predicted negative affect of climate change and land-use change on the distribution of Rhododendrons in China (Yu et al., 2019), the assessment of threats and conservation priorities for Asian slow lorises (Thorn et al., 2009), and to evaluate the ecological indicator of climate change (Kou et al., 2020).

1.2. Problem Statement

The conservation of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin cannot be achieved without knowing where they are. Effective conservation of these two species requires various information, at the very least, on their suitable habitats. However, knowledge on their suitable habitats is incomplete or unclear. For instance, the suitable habitat for Mishmi takin covering their distribution range is not yet available. Also, the prior habitat suitability study for Bhutan takin is focused on winter habitat only. The geographic boundary between Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin is uncertain (Song et al., 2008). Consequently, it limits the protection of

their suitable habitat, thereby imposing a limit on drawing effective conservation, management, and monitoring plans.

The difference between Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin is still not well established. There are contradictions in the description of their pelage colour patterns. A study that carried out sequencing and characterization of the complete mitochondrial genome of Mishmi takin reported that Mishmi takin show close relationship with Sichuan takin than Golden takin (Kumar et al., 2019). However, comparison was not made with Bhutan takin although there are cases when both subspecies are thought to be of same genetic form. Thus far, there are no previous studies comparing their ecological niches, although assessing the similarity of ecological niches may help to mitigate the confusion between these subspecies.

The Himalayan mountain range is sensitive to climate change. There is strong evidence that the region is warming (Gautam et al., 2013). For example, for the period of 1901 to 2003, a 1°C rise in annual average maximum temperature was found in the whole of northeast India. Similarly, many studies report warmer trends for the eastern Himalayas in China. In the Himalayan regions of Bhutan, from 1985 to 2002 average temperature increased by 0.5°C in the non-monsoon season. Further, the large threatened and endemic species are expected to be the most vulnerable animals under the projected climate change scenarios in the Eastern Himalayas (Sharma et al., 2009). Yet, the potential impact of future climate change on Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin has not been explored in previous studies.

1.3. Research objectives

The overall objective of this study is to predict the current and future suitable habitats for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas. The specific objectives of this study are as follows:

- 1) To model the current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas
- 2) To identify the key environmental variables that determine the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin
- 3) To test if the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are identical
- 4) To predict the impacts of future climate change on the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas

1.4. Research questions

- 1) What is the area of suitable habitat currently available for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas?
- 2) What are the key environmental variables influencing the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin?
- 3) Are the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin identical?
- 4) How will the suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin change under future climate change?

1.5. Research hypotheses

Hypothesis 1

H₀: The key environmental variables affecting habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are the same

H1: The key environmental variables affecting habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are different

Hypothesis 2

Ho: The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are identical

H1: The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are not identical

Hypothesis 3

H₀: Suitable habitats for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are expected to increase under the future climate change scenario

H₁: Suitable habitats for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are expected to decline under the future climate change scenario

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Study area

The study area lies in the Eastern Himalayas (27°13' to 28°46' N, 88°10' to 98°27' E). It covers an area of 286,829 km² composed of parts of southwest China, northeast India, northern Myanmar, and Bhutan (Figure 1). The area is regarded as the current distribution range for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin (Song et al., 2008).

The Eastern Himalayas is part of the youngest mountain range in the world. Apart from being the global biodiversity hotspot (Myers et al., 2000), the Eastern Himalayas is a glacier ice repository beyond the Poles. It is also called 'Water tower' or 'Third pole', a critical source of water for people living downstream (Sharma et al., 2009). The region's extreme altitudinal gradients range below 300 m in tropical lowlands to more than 8000 m in high mountains (Chhetri et al., 2010); the world's highest mountain peak, the Mount Everest stands there.

The forest and vegetation in the region are diverse due to the different bioclimatic zones and complex topography (Chhetri et al., 2010). Broadly, six different vegetation types are identified, namely tropical, sub-tropical, warm temperate, cool temperate, sub-alpine and alpine.

The climate in the region is characterized as tropical montane ecosystem type of climate, hot and humid in the foothills and cold and dry on higher elevations. It has about eight months of the active rainy season and hosts Cherrapunji, the wettest spot in the world (Shrestha & Devkota, 2010).



Figure 1: Geographical location of the study area in the Eastern Himalayas

2.2. Species data

The species occurrence data for Mishmi takin was shared by the Wildlife Trust of India, the Wildlife Conservation Society of Myanmar Program, and Yunnan Normal University in China. The data from India was collected from Sikkim and Arunachal Pradesh, northeastern states in India (Dasgupta et al., 2010). The surveys were sporadically conducted between August 2008 and May 2009. Two types of surveys, namely secondary survey and primary survey were conducted. The secondary survey involved interviews and consultation with forest personnel, knowledgeable people, and historical records of distribution to identify areas with the local presence of takin. Among the identified areas, suitable sites for the survey were recognized by selecting the areas between 1500 m and 3600 m and had dense forest cover. Within the identified sites, smaller priority plots for the survey were chosen based on recent sightings and in consultations with local hunters and forest personnel. The primary ground-based survey was conducted in these smaller priority plots by walking through the habitats. Both direct and indirect sightings of species were recorded. Additionally, some occurrence points were compiled from the published report of the Wildlife Trust of India collected in the period 1990 to 2007. The data received through the Wildlife Conservation Society was collected from northern Myanmar. The occurrence points were recorded using camera traps and opportunistic sightings, direct and indirect both. The data was collected in the year 2001 to 2005, 2014, and 2016. The data received from Yunnan Normal University was collected through field surveys, camera traps, and interviews with farmers in southwest China. The data was collected from 1992 to 2020.

The species occurrence data for Bhutan takin was provided by the Nature Conservation Division, Wangchuck Centennial National Park, and Jigme Dorji National Park, Royal Government of Bhutan. The data shared by Nature Conservation Division was collected during the takin national survey of Bhutan (NCD, 2019). The survey was conducted between February and March 2018 in the winter habitat of Bhutan takin. The study sites were selected based on the previous takin records. A grid of 5x5 km² was created on the selected study sites based on the estimated home range of Bhutan takin. The field survey combined a transect walk and camera trap method in the study sites. The laying of transects and placement of camera traps was guided by these grids. For the transect walk survey, a transect of 5 km (maximum) was set in accessible grids. They were laid to cover all representative habitat in each grid. Both direct and indirect sightings were recorded at locations 500 m apart in each grid. At every 500th meter, a 100 m circular buffer was virtually laid as the centre of the plot. The observers then searched for about 20 minutes in each plot. Each transect was visited once more in two weeks (minimum of 1 visit and maximum of 3 visits). For the camera trap survey, grids that were representative of habitat type but further enough to minimize spatial autocorrelation were chosen for unpaired camera trap installation. The camera traps were let to operate for 45 days before closure. The additional data shared by Wangchuck Centennial National Park and Jigme Dorji National Park cover the summer habitat of Bhutan takin. The data shared by Wangchuck Centennial National Park were collected between May and July 2015 through a transect walk. The data from Jigme Dorji National Park were collected between May and August 2020 through forest patrolling. The direct and indirect sightings were recorded from both the parks.

A total of 256 occurrence points for Mishmi takin was shared by data owners from India, Myanmar, and China. During the data exploration exercise, 58 duplicate points and 10 outliers were removed from the dataset. The outliers were determined based on the elevation extracted at each occurrence point in ArcGIS. Takins are generally known to dwell between 1500 m to 3000 m or above. Therefore, occurrence points with elevations lower than 1500 m were removed from the final set of data. The last set of data for Mishmi takin has 188 points (Figure 2). For Bhutan takin, 246 occurrence points were shared in total by data owners from Bhutan. 53 duplicate points were found and removed from the final set of data of 193 data points (Figure 2). No outliers were detected in the occurrence set of Bhutan takin.



2.3. Environmental variables

Modelling with appropriate environmental variables is critical to the performance of the model and its application in predicting suitable habitat of species (Williams et al., 2012). The appropriate environmental variables are direct or indirect factors that control the growth, reproduction, morphology, and behaviour of a species. In this study, the potential environmental variables were collected based on the information gathered on characteristics of takin's ecology through prior studies (Dasgupta et al., 2010; Dhendup et al., 2016; Groves, 1992; Guan et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2019; NCD, 2019; Neas & Hoffmann, 1987; Sangay et al., 2016; Schaller et al., 1986; Sharma et al., 2015; Song et al., 2008; Wangchuk et al., 2016; Zeng et al., 2010) and in consultation with takin expert.

In the event of non-availability of actual home range for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin, the i) past papers, ii) the availability of spatial resolution for potential environmental variables, and iii) the complex topography of the study area was used as the guide to determine the appropriate spatial resolution for environmental variables to be used in this study. The distribution and status of takin in India used 30 m forest cover satellite images and 90 m elevation data to extract good potential habitat for takin (Dasgupta et al., 2010). A spatial resolution of 90 m was used to predict the winter habitat of Bhutan takin (NCD, 2019), and 250 m vegetation data were analysed to examine the migration pattern of giant panda and golden takin (Wang et al., 2010). However, these studies did not use climatic variables. The climatic variables that influence takin migration are available at 1 km spatial resolution, the finest at present. Then, we could also use the estimated home range of Golden takin, which is 25 km² (Yan et al., 2017), but variations present in environmental conditions and surface features due to undulating terrain in the study region might not be captured. Therefore, the spatial resolution of 1 km was used to approximately balance all these aspects. Also, all the environmental variables were projected to Asia Lambert Conformal Conic (EPSG: 102012) because it is one of the best for middle latitudes (ESRI, 2016) and is often recommended for studies in the Himalayan region. Finally, the potential environmental variables were downloaded from various sources (Table 1). They were grouped into five categories: bioclimatic variables, topographic variables, vegetation-related variables, land cover, and anthropogenic factors.

2.3.1. Bioclimatic variables

The search for optimum temperature condition is suggested as one of the drivers for seasonal migration in takin (Wang et al., 2010). The bioclimatic variables are biologically meaningful variables for species distribution derived from monthly temperature and precipitation (WorldClim, 2020). A set of 19 bioclimatic variables were downloaded from the WorldClim database (version 2.1) at a resolution of 1 km (Table 1). The database provides current (1970 - 2000) and projected climatic data for 2070 (2061 - 2080). The current data are averaged global climate layers over 30 years.

For future data, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) adopted greenhouse gas concentration trajectory called Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) scenarios called RCP 2.6, RCP 4.5, RCP 6.0, and RCP 8.5. The RCPs indicate the possible future climate scenarios depending on the volume of greenhouse gas in the future (IPCC, 2014). The RCP 2.6 is a stringent mitigation scenario, RCP 4.5 and RCP 6.0 are intermediate scenarios, and RCP 8.5 is a very high emission scenario. The RCP 4.5 is desirable for future conservation. It is a stable scenario without exceeding the long-run radiative forcing target level. On the other hand, RCP 8.5 is the most outrageous scenario expected in future. It considers high greenhouse gas concentration levels with the increasing greenhouse gas emissions over time. Plus, they are often used scenarios for future climate change impact studies (Buras & Menzel, 2019; José et al., 2016; Rathore et al., 2019). Therefore, bioclimatic data of Community Climate System Model 4.0 (CCSM4) was downloaded for RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios. CCSM4 is one of the general circulation models (GCMs) from Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 (CMIP5). It has been used for assessing the impact of future climate change on species distribution (Borzée et al., 2019; Qin et al., 2017) . Climate models make predictions on seasonal to decadal time scales and make projections of future climate over the coming centuries (Flato et al., 2013).

2.3.2. Topographic variables

The topographic variables are critical habitat factors that influence the microclimate, soil properties and species distribution (Wang et al., 2009). Variables like elevation, slope and aspect have often been used for species distribution modelling of various species. Also, takins are often sighted at a particular range of altitude, making these topographic variables a potential set of variables that most likely might influence their habitat preference. Such surface parameters are derived from Digital Elevation Model (DEM). So, 90 m DEM was downloaded to calculate the surface parameters using ArcGIS. The resulting slope, aspect, roughness, and elevation of 90 m were resampled to 1 km spatial resolution for further analysis. The 90 m resolution DEM was used for generating surface parameters because a test result concluded that we should calculate surface parameters from finer resolution DEM, and resample to coarser resolution (Grohmann, 2015). The reason being that the smoothing of topographical surface while resampling DEM from higher resolution to lower resolution will further affect the derived surface parameters. As a result, the calculated values of derivatives might be much smaller than real values.

2.3.3. Vegetation-related variables

Vegetation-related variables are essential in this study because takin is a herbivore by food habit. Also, plant phenology is one of the factors influencing seasonal migration of takin (Guan et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2010). The normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) is a commonly used vegetation index for monitoring vegetation phenology, animal migration, and modelling species distribution (Panthi et al., 2019; Pettorelli et al., 2005; Swanepoel et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2010). It is

calculated using reflected red and near-infrared (NIR) radiation as NDVI = (NIR - RED) / (NIR + RED). The time series NDVI images are helpful in showing the spatial and temporal developments in vegetation productivity and distribution. Thus, it is representative of vegetation dynamics. Therefore, NDVI variables were used as a surrogate of plant phenology and food resources in this study. Takins live in remote parts of the study area so the major changes in the forest cover was not expected. Therefore, the time series NDVI images were collected between 2001 to 2005, falling in between the range of species data collection year (Section 2.2: Species data). The atmospherically corrected 10-day composite NDVI images were downloaded from SPOT-Vegetation at 1 km spatial resolution. These images were smoothened using a Savitzky-Golay filter to reduce noise caused by clouds using ENVI classic 5.6 software. The smoothened NDVI images were used for deriving NDVI statistical products (minimum, mean, maximum, and standard deviation) that were used as environmental variables for the study.

2.3.4. Land-cover

A dense forest cover was regarded as potential habitat for Mishmi takin in India (Dasgupta et al., 2010) and conifer forests was found to have a positive influence on habitat use by Bhutan takin (NCD, 2019). Therefore, forest canopy height and land cover variables were considered in this study. The global forest canopy height at 1 km spatial resolution was downloaded from the NASA/Earth data site. Global forest canopy height was collected using spaceborne light detection and ranging (lidar) for 2005 (Simard et al., 2011). The global 1 km consensus land cover for nine classes (Table 1) was downloaded from the EarthEnv repository. The datasets were generated by integrating land-cover products acquired from several global remote sensors (Tuanmu & Jetz, 2014). It provides the prevalence information on the land-cover classes.

2.3.5. Anthropogenic factors

Takin, a stout but shy mammal, is deemed to avoid proximity to human or human activities (Dasgupta et al., 2010; NCD, 2019). For instance, anthropogenic activities like construction of roads, use of grazing ground by domestic livestock, and human disturbances/settlements are seen to have a negative effect on the distribution of takin (Dasgupta et al., 2010; NCD, 2019; Sangay et al., 2016; Song et al., 2008). Therefore, anthropogenic factors like distance to road, distance to human settlement, human population density, and domestic animal density (cattle and sheep) were considered in this study. The road network was downloaded from Geofabrik, and human settlement points were downloaded from Humanitarian data exchange (HDX). The road networks and human settlement points were used to generate the distance to road and distance to settlement using the Euclidean distance tool in ArcGIS at 1 km resolution. The cattle and sheep density layers were acquired from the Livestock Geo-Wiki and human population density from the NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), both with 1 km spatial resolution.

Category	Variables	Abbreviation	Unit
	Annual mean temperature	bio1	°C
Bioclimatic	Mean diurnal range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp))	bio2	°C
	Isothermality (bio2/bio7)	bio3	Dimensionless
	Temperature seasonality (standard deviation)	bio4	°C

Table 1: List of potential environmental variables for modelling the current suitable habitat of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

	Max temperature of warmest month	bio5	°C
	Min temperature of coldest month	bio6	°C
	Temperature annual range (bio5-bio6)	bio7	°C
	Mean temperature of wettest quarter	bio8	°C
	Mean temperature of driest quarter	bio9	°C
	Mean temperature of warmest quarter	bio10	°C
	Mean temperature of coldest quarter	bio11	°C
	Annual precipitation	bio12	mm
	Precipitation of wettest month	bio13	mm
	Precipitation of driest month	bio14	mm
	Precipitation seasonality (coefficient of variation)	bio15	Dimensionless
	Precipitation of wettest quarter	bio16	mm
	Precipitation of driest quarter	bio17	mm
	Precipitation of warmest quarter	bio18	mm
	Precipitation of coldest quarter	bio19	mm
	Elevation	elevation	m
Topographic	Aspect	aspect	Degree
Topographic	Slope	slope	Degree
	Roughness	roughness	Dimensionless
	Annual minimum NDVI	ndvi min	Dimensionless
Vegetation-	Annual mean NDVI	ndvi mean	Dimensionless
related	Annual maximum NDVI	ndvi max	Dimensionless
	Standard deviation NDVI	ndvi std	Dimensionless
	Evergreen/Deciduous Needleleaf Trees	needleleaf forest	Dimensionless
	Evergreen Broadleaf Trees	evergreen broadleaf forest	Dimensionless
	Deciduous Broadleaf Trees	deciduous broadleaf forest	Dimensionless
Land-cover	Mixed/Other Trees	mixed forests	Dimensionless
Land-COVEI	Shrubs	shrublands	Dimensionless
	Herbaceous Vegetation	herbaceous	Dimensionless
	Cultivated and Managed Vegetation	croplands	Dimensionless
	Snow/Ice	snow and ice	Dimensionless
	Barren	barren	Dimensionless
	Forest canopy height	canopy height	Dimensionless

	Road network	distance to road	km
	Human settlement points	distance to settlement	km
Anthropogenic	Human population density	human population density	Population per square km
	Cattle density	cattle density	per square km
	Sheep density	sheep density	per square km

2.4. Collinearity analysis

Collinearity is the linear relationship between two or more environmental variables (Dormann et al., 2013). The most used statistical routines in ecology are sensitive to collinearity. It leads to unstable estimates of the parameter, inflated standard errors on coefficient estimates, and bias in the inference statistics. In species distribution models, collinearity among environmental variables was found to decrease the efficiency and increase the model uncertainty (De Marco & Nóbrega, 2018). Therefore, detection and removal of highly correlated environmental variables is a critical step prior to model building.

The Pearson correlation coefficient and variance inflation factor (VIF) are commonly used collinearity indices (Dormann et al., 2013). The Pearson correlation coefficient tests the strength of correlation between a pair of variables. As a rule of thumb, very highly correlated variable pairs are the ones with |r|>0.7. The multicollinearity among the variables can be tested using VIF. Again, as a rule of thumb, variables with VIF>10 indicate very high multicollinearity. The detected variables with very high collinearity and less important for species' ecology are removed.

Initially, 42 variables were listed as potential variables for predicting the habitat suitability for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin (Table 1). These variables were tested for pairwise correlation and multicollinearity using the statistical software package R. The Pearson correlation coefficient test revealed that most of the bioclimatic variables were highly correlated ($|\mathbf{r}| > 0.7$) to each other and to elevation. Thus, only four of the bioclimatic variables that were not highly correlated and ecologically meaningful were retained for further analysis. They are annual mean diurnal range (bio2), isothermality (bio3), precipitation of the driest month (bio14), and precipitation seasonality (bio15). Similarly, ndvi mean, ndvi minimum, and ndvi maximum was removed for being highly correlated to elevation. A total of 19 variables were removed through the Pairwise correlation coefficient test leaving 23 variables (Figure 3). VIF was calculated for the remaining 23 variables. The result shows that VIF for all the variables was less than 10 (Table 2). Therefore, all 23 variables were retained for modelling the current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin (Table 3).



Table 2: Multicollinearity analysis showing VIF < 10 for each variable

Variables	VIF
elevation	8.663
bio2	8.064
herbaceous	7.671
snow_and_ice	5.905
canopy_height	3.773
bio3	3.633
bio14	3.215
ndvi_std	2.665
needleleaf_forest	2.469
mixed_forests	2.379
bio15	2.115
croplands	1.908
barren	1.703
deciduous_broadleaf_forest	1.681
distance_to_road	1.496
distance_to_settlement	1.461
shrublands	1.449
cattle_density	1.433
human_population_density	1.322
slope	1.271
sheep_density	1.245
roughness	1.024
aspect	1.015

Table 3: Environmental	variables used for n	nodelling the current	suitable habitat for	Mishmi takin and	Bhutan takin
in this study		0			

Category	Variables	Abbreviation	Unit
	Mean diurnal range (mean of monthly (max temp - min temp))	urnal range (mean of (max temp - min bio2	
Bioclimatic	Isothermality (bio2/bio7)	bio3	Dimensionless
	Precipitation of driest month	bio14	mm
	Precipitation seasonality (coefficient of variation) bio15		Dimensionless
	Elevation	elevation	m
Topographic	Aspect	aspect	Degree
торовгариис	Slope	slope	Degree
	Roughness	roughness	Dimensionless
Vegetation- related	Standard deviation NDVI	ndvi std	Dimensionless
	Evergreen/Deciduous Needleleaf Trees	needleleaf forest	Dimensionless
	Deciduous Broadleaf Trees	deciduous broadleaf forest	Dimensionless
	Mixed/Other Trees	mixed forests	Dimensionless
Land-cover	Shrubs	shrublands	Dimensionless
Lanu-cover	Herbaceous Vegetation	herbaceous	Dimensionless
	Cultivated and Managed Vegetation	croplands	Dimensionless
	Snow/Ice	snow and ice	Dimensionless
	Barren	barren	Dimensionless
	Forest canopy height	canopy height	Dimensionless
	Road network	distance to road	km
	Human settlement points	distance to settlement	km
Anthropogenic	Human population density	human population density	Population per square km
	Cattle density	cattle density	per square km
	Sheep density	sheep density	per square km

2.5. Ecological niche modelling

2.5.1. Maximum entropy modelling (Maxent)

In a comprehensive model comparison study, Multivariate adaptive regression-splines (MARS), Boosted regression tree (BRT), and Maxent were the best performing models among the 16 commonly used models (Elith et al., 2006). The models like MARS and BRT need both presence and absence data, while Maxent was designed to work with presence-only data. Since presence-only data was provided for both subspecies, Maxent method was used for this study. Maxent uses the principle of maximum entropy to estimate the relationship between environmental variables and species presence (Phillips et al., 2006). It

outputs an estimated probability of presence with logistic output format. Maxent can generate relatively higher predictive accuracy with small sample among other presence-only methods (Merow et al., 2013). In fact, it is considered as one of the best species distribution models for species with restricted range (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013) as the target species of this study. It is also comparatively less demanding of the computational time when compared to the ensemble modelling method. Besides, a recent analysis of distribution maps produced by Maxent and ensemble methods concluded that Maxent results are comparable to the results from the ensemble method (Kaky et al., 2020). Maxent has been used for studies similar to this study (Aguilar et al., 2015; Du et al., 2021; Fuller et al., 2008; Gibson et al., 2010; Merow et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2018). Furthermore, the method is easy to implement with a stand-alone Java application tool, Maxent 3.4.4 (latest at present), and has a user-friendly interface to change the settings when needed.

The Maxent software has often been utilized with the default settings, but many scientists do not recommend the default set-up (Anderson & Gonzalez, 2011; Cao et al., 2013; Merow et al., 2013; Morales et al., 2017; Warren & Seifert, 2011). The default setting was found to either produce overfitting or underfitting models. The scientists have emphasized on the model settings and their importance while building a model through Maxent. Therefore, the default model setting is not necessarily the optimal configuration especially, when the sample size is small and when a single species is being modelled. Both conditions are valid in this study. Therefore, parameter tuning is deemed as a critical step before running the Maxent model. The three crucial model settings explored in this study are i) selecting appropriate number of background points for model building, ii) selecting appropriate number of model replicates, and iii) Selection of optimal feature types and regularization coefficient value.

2.5.1.1. Selection of background points

In Maxent, the occurrence points will be contrasted against the background points selected from the given background or study area (Merow et al., 2013). It assumes that each pixel in the background has an equal probability of being picked for modelling. It means that defining a bigger extent of background will accordingly include higher variation in values of environmental variables producing unimodal response curves, and a smaller extent of background might not capture all the environmental variability offered by the landscape producing monotonic response curves. Neither unimodal nor monotonic response curve is more correct than the other. However, background's influence on the feature selected for modelling is apparent. Therefore, a careful selection of background that is ecologically justified is more appropriate.

Accordingly, the background or the extent of the study area for this study was chosen with reference to prior studies conducted on takin, currently occupied areas, areas with the historical record of spotting a takin (Mishmi takin or Bhutan takin), potential distribution range, and in consultation with the takin expert. Proceeding further, models were built using 10000 and 15000 background points for both subspecies to conduct a simple comparative analysis of models based on Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC). The result shows a slightly lower AUC for models with 15000 background points for 10000 to 15000 will not necessarily improve the model's predictive accuracy for the given set of data and background. Therefore, 10000 background points are considered appropriate for modelling current habitat suitability in this study.

	Mishmi takin	Bhutan takin
10000 background points	0.929 (AUC)	0.979 (AUC)
15000 background points	0.922 (AUC)	0.978 (AUC)

Table 4: Comparative analysis of model performance based on AUC with different number of background points

2.5.1.2. Selection of model replications

Since Maxent is a machine learning method, it is necessary to repeatedly run the model and evaluate model stability across sample models for a robust result (Sillero & Barbosa, 2021). Maxent offers functionality under the basic setting to run the model repeatedly called Replicates. It allows using the result that is averaged over the number of replicates specified by the user. Most often, users use 10 replicates (Abdelaal et al., 2019; Khanum et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2018), but it is to be noted that when specifying the number of replicates in Maxent, it also defines the number of k-folds when cross-validation is chosen as the data partitioning method for the training and testing datasets. Cross-validation method is selected for partitioning the dataset while building the models in this thesis. The cross-validation method is advantageous because all the data is used for validation without replacement, thereby making better use of a small dataset (Phillips, 2017). This method is also the recommended choice when using Maxent for modelling as it helps obtain a generalized model that does not overfit or underfit (Merow et al., 2013). Consequently, selecting the appropriate number of replicates is essential. To select the appropriate number of replicates, Maxent model was run with five and ten replicates consecutively. A simple comparative analysis of models based on AUC was conducted. The analysis outcome for both subspecies shows slightly lower AUC with a higher number of replicates (Table 5). It is concluded that increasing replicates will not necessarily increase the model's predictive accuracy for the given data set. Also, the difference in between the AUCs is not abruptly changing indicating that the model is stable. Therefore, five model replicates are considered appropriate for modelling the current habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin.

	Mishmi takin	Bhutan takin
5 replicates	0.931 (AUC)	0.980 (AUC)
10 replicates	0.929 (AUC)	0.978 (AUC)

Table 5: Comparative analysis of model performance based on AUC with different number of replicates

2.5.1.3. Selection of optimal feature types and regularization multiplier:

Ecological niche models rely on the species' response to the given predictors for model building (Elith et al., 2011). Since the response of the species tends to be complex, fitting a non-linear function is preferred. In machine learning programs like Maxent, it is achieved by applying a transformation to the predictors called features. Maxent offers five feature types, namely linear (L), quadratic (Q), hinge (H), product (P), and threshold (T). The default setting of Maxent allows usage of all features when the number of occurrence is higher than 80, thereby creating a complex model (Merow et al., 2013). A complex model can easily overfit the model to the training dataset, which reduces the generalization capacity of the model. Therefore, a subset of available features can be used to build a simplified model with similar performance. Regularization is used by Maxent to select useful features that contribute most to the model fit (Merow et al., 2013). It reduces model overfit by i) ensuring that the empirical constraints do not fit the data too precisely, and by ii) penalizing the model in relation to the magnitude of the coefficients. The default regularization multiplier value of one in Maxent often retains many correlated features, but it is more useful to obtain a simpler model when biological interpretation is essential (Merow et al., 2013).

Muscarella et al. (2014) developed an R package called ENMeval that can estimate the optimal set of feature types and regularization multiplier value for given set of occurrence data and predictors. A total of 48 different model settings were explored using the ENMeval R package by combining eight different regularization values ranging from 0.5 to 4 (0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 3.5, and 4) with L, LQ, H, LQH, LQHP, LQHPT feature set each. The output provides evaluation metrics for each model combination to characterize the model performance (Muscarella et al., 2014). A corrected Akaike information criteria (AICc) selected models were reported to perform better than other evaluation metrics especially when the sample size are small (Warren & Seifert, (2011). Therefore, AICc was used to select the optimal model combination having lowest AICc value (Table 6) among the 48 models was selected for final model construction.

Table 6: Feature type and regularization multiplier value for modelling the current suitable habitat of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the study area

	Feature type	Regularization multiplier	AICc
Mishmi takin	LQH (Linear, Quadratic, Hinge)	4	3842
Bhutan takin	LQ (Linear, Quadratic)	4	3449

2.6. Model performance assessment

The assessment of the model's predictive accuracy is an important indicator to understand the model performance (Allouche et al., 2006). The predictive accuracy of the model can be measured in two complementary ways, namely, discrimination and calibration (Pearce & Ferrier, 2000; Phillips & Elith, 2010). Discrimination is the ability of the model to differentiate between occupied and unoccupied sites. Calibration is the extent of agreement between the predicted probability of occurrence and observed occurrence. In this study, both approaches are used to evaluate the accuracy of the models. The discrimination metrics such as AUC, true skill statistic (TSS), and a calibration metric, Continuous Boyce Index (CBI) are used.

2.6.1. Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC)

AUC is a threshold independent accuracy measure (Fielding & Bell, 1997). It is a popular measure to evaluate the model performance (Pecchi et al., 2019). AUC is the area under receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. ROC plots sensitivity (true positive) against 1-specificity (false positive). An AUC value of 0.5 represents a random model, AUC > 0.7 denotes a useful model, and 1 indicates the perfect model (Phillips & Dudík, 2008). The AUC reported in this study is Maxent generated average AUC for all model replicates.

2.6.2. True Skill Statistic (TSS)

The predicted habitat suitability or species distribution information are often used in identifying biodiversity hotspot, and delineating areas for conservation based on binary maps (Allouche et al., 2006). Hence, the selection of a threshold is inevitable. Liu et al. (2016) concluded that maximizing the sum of sensitivity and specificity (maxSSS) threshold selection method is not affected by the ratio of known presences to random points. It generates similar result with presence/absence and presence-only datasets. As such, the threshold determined by the maxSSS method will be used to create binary maps in this study.

Consequently, a threshold dependent model evaluation measure like TSS is required. It is a threshold dependent and prevalence independent measure of accuracy for models (Allouche et al., 2006). TSS considers both omission and commission errors and success from random guessing. It is a recommended statistical accuracy measure that retains the advantages of kappa statistics but eliminates the drawback. The

value of TSS ranges from -1 to +1, where a value of 0 or less denotes a random model, TSS > 0.7 represents a useful model and, 1 indicates a perfect model. The TSS for each model replicates were calculated using PresenceAbsence R package and the average TSS is reported in this study.

2.6.3. Continuous Boyce Index (CBI)

CBI is a reliable presence-only model evaluation measurement (Hirzel et al., 2006). It is a threshold independent evaluator and varies between -1 and +1. CBI values closer to 0 indicate a random model, positive CBI values represent a model that is consistent with the evaluation dataset, and negative CBI values denote counter predictions. The CBI value for each model replicates were calculated using Ecospat R package and the average CBI is reported in this study.

2.7. Jackknife test

Identifying which environmental conditions are most important for a species is one of the applications of environmental niche modelling (Harisena et al., 2021). The Jackknife test was used to assess the importance of different environmental variables for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin. It is one of the key analyses that can be conducted using Maxent. It indicates which variables matter the most for the species being modelled (Phillips, 2017). The result of the Jackknife test is a bar chart showing the model's information gain or loss in three different variable-use aspects. First, a model is built using all variables. Second, a model is created by using an individual variable in isolation. Third, a model that excludes one variable at a time while creating the model with the remaining variables. The models from the first and second aspects show the information gain from the variables being used, while the third aspect shows the information loss when a particular variable is excluded. As such, the result from the second type of modelling aspect is critical in explaining which variable by itself has the most useful information in predicting the habitat suitability of the species being modelled. The result of the third type of modelling aspect is crucial in identifying the variable that has the most information, which isn't present in the rest of the variables used for modelling. Therefore, the most contributing variable from second and third type of modelling is reported as the two most important variables for each of the subspecies. Further, subspecies' ecological response to these variables are presented through response curves built in Maxent. Response curves indicate a species' respond to changes in environmental conditions (Harisena et al., 2021). It can also show conditions that are most preferred by a species along environmental gradients.

2.8. Ecological niche similarity analysis

The ecological niche similarity analysis is conducted in this study to assess the ecological niche distinction between Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin. The ecological niche similarity analysis is a comparative analysis of ecological niches of different species. It is widely being used for conservation planning, niche evolution, speciation and to understand the ecological diversity within clades (Aguirre-Gutiérrez et al., 2015; Warren et al., 2008, 2010). The basis of such comparative analyses is quantifying species' environmental requirements and assessing the differences among them or how they change over time (Broennimann et al., 2012). The useful approaches for such analyses are ecological niche equivalency and niche similarity test. The niche equivalency test aims to analyse if the ecological niches are identical (Warren et al., 2010). While the niche similarity test determines if the ecological niches are more similar or divergent than expected by chance. However, both tests start by calculating the niche overlap between the niches of species being compared. The niche overlap is measured using Schoener's *D* and Warren's *I* statistics. The value for niche overlap ranges from 0 to 1 for both statistics. A value of 0 indicate no niche overlap at all, and a value of 1 represents the niches that completely overlap. In this study, both tests were executed using ENMTools. It is a software that facilitates quantitative comparisons of ecological niche generated using Maxent (Warren et al., 2021). ENMTools test hypothesis using nonparametric tests based on Monte

Carlo methods. Initially, the empirical niche overlap between the two ecological niches of species is measured using D and I. Then, for each hypothesis testing, null distribution is generated from simulations. The simulations are a bunch of replicate realizations of null hypothesis. Finally, the empirical observation is compared to observations from null distribution to either reject or accept the null hypothesis.

The niche identity test or niche equivalency test conducted in ENMTools examine the hypothesis if the ecological niches of two subspecies are identical (Warren et al., 2010). The empirical D and I niche overlap between the ecological niche of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin was calculated. Then, D and I value of niche overlap for null distribution is generated. To create the null distribution, the ENMTools randomizes the population identities of sample points that were pooled from the two subspecies. Then, a new population sample is extracted for each subspecies, which is further used to produce the ENM for each subspecies. This process was repeated 100 times, recommended, to get the distribution of D and I scores, assuming that the two subspecies can interchangeably use their niche spaces. Finally, the empirical observation is compared to the percentiles of null distribution in one-tailed test, critical observation, calculated at 95% confidence interval. If the empirical value is higher than critical value, then the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are concluded to be identical. On the contrary, if the empirical value is lower than critical value, then the ecological niches of two subspecies are not identical.

The background test or ecological niche similarity test is conducted to test whether the ecological niches of target species are more different than expected given the underlying differences in environmental conditions between the areas in which they occur (Warren et al., 2008). The test is particularly important to analyse ecological niche similarity between allopatric populations (Warren et al., 2010). Since Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are mostly sighted in different regions of the study area (Dasgupta et al., 2010; NCD, 2019; Sharma et al., 2015), the background test was included in this study. The empirical niche overlap value was already calculated before running ecological niche identity test, so it need not be calculated again. The background test generates a null distribution by placing occurrences of Mishmi takin within the range of Bhutan takin and vice versa. It was repeated 100 times, as recommended, in both directions: Mishmi takin occurrence within the range of Bhutan takin and Bhutan takin occurrence within the range of Mishmi takin. The range in this context is user-specified area including the areas of species occurrence. For this study, the predicted current suitable habitats (Section 2.5) for both subspecies were used as range. Finally, if the empirical scores fall outside of the 95% confidence limits of the null distribution, critical value, then the null hypothesis is rejected. Accordingly, if empirical values are lower or higher than the critical values, then the species being compared are more divergent or more similar than expected by chance respectively.

2.9. Future climate change impact analysis

2.9.1. Habitat suitability modelling under climate change projections

The predicted future suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin was modelled using Maxent. It is a frequently used tool for modelling the impact of future climate change on various species (Abdelaal et al., 2019; Lamsal et al., 2018; Qin et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2019). The environmental variables representing different aspect of takin's ecology (Section 2.3) is desirable but not available for future climate change projections. Therefore, bioclimatic variables available for RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios (Section 2.3.1), and topographical variables that are not likely to change were listed as potential environmental variables. The data download, exploration, processing, modelling, and validation followed the procedures described in previous sections of this thesis (Section 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6).

A highly correlated but less important variables (r > 0.7 and VIF > 10) were removed before modelling (Figure 4). The final set of variables that were used for modelling the future suitable habitat of both subspeceis are annual mean temperature (bio1), annual mean diurnal range (bio2), isothermality (bio3), precipitation of driest month (bio14), precipitation seasonality (bio15), aspect, slope, and roughness.



Figure 4: Result of collinearity analysis showing correlation matrix for variables used for modelling the future suitable habitat of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin (left), and result of multicollinearity test showing VIF values for each of the variables (right)

Other parameters like number of background points, number of model replication, feature types and regularization coefficient values were tuned for both subspecies (procedure given in Section 2.5). So, specific model settings were used for modelling (Table 7).

Table 7: Model settings estimated for modelling the current and future suitable habitats of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin under the future climate change scenarios

	Number of	Number of	Feature types	Regularization
	background points	replicates		coefficient
Mishmi takin	20000	5	LQHP	2
Bhutan takin	10000	5	LQHPT	2.5

One of the challenges of using Maxent is projecting future species distribution because it needs extrapolating models to novel environmental conditions (Merow et al., 2013). Predicting to novel environmental conditions of future bioclimatic variables are contentious applications because it usually requires predicting to conditions that was not sampled by the training data. Therefore, clamping and multivariate environmental similarity surface analysis (MESS) was implemented for extrapolation. The clamping handles the novel environmental conditions outside the training range as though they were at the limit of the training range (Phillips, 2017). MESS measures the similarity of any given point to a set of reference points based on chosen predictor variables (Elith et al., 2010). It indicates the closeness of a point to the distribution of reference points.

2.9.2. Distribution changes analyses

To quantify the distributional changes between two time periods (current and 2070), firstly, the distribution changes between current and future suitable habitat was calculated to output an area of no change, range contraction, and range expansion in km². Secondly, the core distributional shift between

current and future suitable habitat was calculated to show direction of change through time. This analysis considers the central point of species' distribution to generate a vector, an arrow, showing the direction of change. The analyses were conducted in ArcGIS using SDMtoolbox 2.0. SDMtoolbox is a free python-based geographic information system (GIS) toolkit (Brown, 2014). The toolkit works well with Maxent generated outputs. It simplifies GIS analyses required for environmental distribution modelling.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Model performance and predicted current suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

An area of 28,154 km² is currently available as suitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas (Figure 5). The suitable habitat was predicted with high-performing environmental niche model. The model's predictive accuracy is 0.916, 0.729, and 0.912 for AUC, TSS, and CBI respectively.



Figure 5: Map showing the current suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas



The current habitat suitability for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas is shown in Figure 6.

Figure 6: Map showing the current habitat suitability for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas

An area of 15,314 km² is currently available as suitable habitat for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas (Figure 7). The suitable habitats were predicted with high-performing environmental niche model. The model has predictive accuracy of 0.970, 0.876, and 0.933 for AUC, TSS, and CBI respectively.



Figure 7: Map showing the current suitable and unsuitable habitat for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas





Figure 8: Map showing the current habitat suitability for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas

3.2. Key environmental variables determining habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

Bioclimatic and vegetation-related environmental variables play role in determining the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin. The importance of variables to predict the suitable habitat of Mishmi takin is shown in Figure 9. The precipitation seasonality (bio15) and standard deviation NDVI (ndvi std) are the two key environmental variables determining the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin. The precipitation seasonality generated the highest gain when modelled in isolation, indicating that it contains the most useful information for predicting the habitat suitability by itself. The withdrawal of NDVI standard deviation reduced the model gain the most, meaning, it holds important information which is not found in the rest of the variables.



Figure 9: Importance of environmental variables in modelling the habitat suitability for Mishmi takin in Eastern Himalayas. The "With only variable" shows the result of model when a single variable is used in isolation. The "Without variable" shows the effect of removing a particular variable from the full model.

The response curve is important in understanding the limiting environmental conditions of suitable habitat for Mishmi takin. The response curves for precipitation seasonality and NDVI standard deviation were obtained while building the ENM of Mishmi takin (Figure 10). It is observed that Mishmi takin's habitat is suitable at lower range, $\sim 59\%$ to 64%, of precipitation variability. The habitat suitability for Mishmi takin is increasing with an increasing value of NDVI standard deviation. It reveals that higher vegetation is preferred by Mishmi takin.



Figure 10: Response curves show the relationship between habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and an environmental variable. These curves show how the response changes for a particular variable used in isolation.

Bioclimatic and vegetation-related environmental variables play role in determining the habitat suitability of Bhutan takin. The importance of variables to predict the suitable habitat of Bhutan takin is shown in Figure 11. The needleleaf forest cover (needleleaf forest) and isothermality (bio3) are the two most important environmental variables for predicting the suitable habitat of Bhutan takin (Figure 11). The needleleaf forest cover produced highest gain when modelled in isolation and removal of isothermality from the set of variables brought the highest decrease in model gain.



Jackknife of regularized training gain for Bhutantakin

Figure 11: Importance of environmental variables in modelling the habitat suitability for Bhutan takin in Eastern Himalayas. The "With only variable" shows the result of model when a single variable is used in isolation. The "Without variable" shows the effect of removing a particular variable from the full model.

The response curves for needleleaf forest cover and isothermality were obtained while building the ENM of Bhutan takin (Figure 12). Bhutan takin is responding to the changing needleleaf forest cover in unimodal fashion. The suitability of an area increases with increasing prevalence until \sim 60; beyond this the suitability gradually decreases with an increasing prevalence. An increase in isothermality increases the habitat suitability of an area for Bhutan takin.



Figure 12: Response curves show the relationship between habitat suitability of Bhutan takin and an environmental variable. These curves show how the response changes for a particular variable used in isolation.

3.3. Ecological niche similarity between Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are similar, but not same. The empirical D and I values were higher than the critical D and I values obtained from background test, in both directions (Table 8). This shows that the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are more similar than merely expected by chance. It means that there is something common between these two subspecies in their use of ecological niche space. However, the empirical D and I values were lower compared to the critical D and I values obtained from identity test (Table 9). This indicates that their niches are not equivalent. Thus, Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin do not completely overlap in their use of ecological niche space.

Table 8: The critical *D* and *I* niche overlap values obtained from the similarity score for ENMs built from known occurrences of two species, and empirical *D* and *I* niche overlap values obtained from similarity scores for ENMs constructed using points drawn at random from the region defined as background range for one of the species.

	Mishmi takin ──► Bhutan takin		Bhutan takin —	► Mishmi
			takin	
	D	Ι	D	Ι
Critical value	0.101	0.274	0.041	0.144
Empirical value	0.119	0.310	0.119	0.310

Table 9: The critical *D* and *I* niche overlap values obtained from the similarity score for ENMs built from known occurrences of two species, and empirical *D* and *I* niche overlap values obtained from similarity scores between ENMs built from occurrences drawn randomly from the pooled occurrences for the two subspecies

	D	Ι
Critical value	0.670	0.891
Empirical value	0.119	0.310

3.4. Impact of future climate change on habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

To predict the suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in future, the species occurrence data and eight environmental variables, namely annual mean temperature (bio1), annual mean diurnal range (bio2), isothermality (bio3), precipitation of driest month (bio14), precipitation seasonality (bio15), aspect, slope, and roughness (Section 2.9.1), were used. The impact was assessed under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios (Section 2.3.1). The predicted impact of future climate change on suitable habitat of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin is atrocious.

The predicted current and future suitable habitat for Mishmi takin is shown in Figure 13. It is seen that there is drastic decrease in the availability of suitable habitat in future as compared to the current suitable habitat (48,129 km²). There is very less area (587 km²) available as suitable habitat for Mishmi takin under RCP 4.5 scenario. The availability of suitable habitat is least (150 km²) under the RCP 8.5 scenario. The ENM for current habitat suitability has good predictive accuracy of 0.926 for AUC, 0.699 for TSS, and 0.939 for CBI.



Figure 13: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas for current and future (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)

The distribution range is predicted to contract by 47,009 km² and expand by 544 km² under RCP 4.5 scenario. Similarly, the distribution range is predicted to contract by 47,023 km² and expand by 148 km². An area of 13 km² remains unchanged under RCP 4.5 scenario but there is no area that remains unchanged under RCP 8.5 scenario. There is significant contraction in their distribution range as compared to the expansion (Figure 14). Therefore, Mishmi takin is likely to face extinction in future due to climate change in the Eastern Himalayas.



Figure 14: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas for current, and showing the distribution range contraction, range expansion and area of no change under future climate change scenarios (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)

The core range shift showed that there would be shift in north direction under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios (Figure 15). It is an indication of range shift in suitable habitat, regardless of the available size of the suitable habitat.



Figure 15: Map showing the core range shift for Mishmi takin in the Eastern Himalayas under future climate change scenarios (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)

The predicted current and future suitable habitat for Bhutan takin is shown in Figure 16. It is seen that there is no suitable habitat available in future for Bhutan takin under both RCP scenarios. The ENM for current habitat suitability has good predictive accuracy of 0.969, 0.858, and 0.938 for AUC, TSS, and CBI, respectively. The predicted impact of future climate change suggests that the entire population of Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas can be wiped out due to none availability of suitable habitat.



Figure 16: Map showing the suitable and unsuitable habitat for Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas for current and future (RCP 4.5, and RCP 8.5 in 2070)

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. Currently available suitable habitat for Mishmi takin and Bhuntan takin

To the best of my knowledge, a clear or complete suitable habitat map for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin is not yet available. Therefore, this is the first study to produce the current suitable habitat map for Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin including i) their potential distribution range in the Eastern Himalayas, ii) covering both summer and winter habitat use, and iii) modelling the response of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin to five different categories of variables. The result of this study shows that an area of 28,154 km² is currently available as suitable habitat for Mishmi takin. The area is distributed across southeast Tibet and northwest Yunnan in southwest China, Kachin state in northern Myanmar, and northeast state of Arunachal Pradesh in India. The areas identified in this study are consistent with previous studies that indicate the presence of Mishmi takin in Cibagou Nature Reserve of southeast of Tibet (Pengju & Endi, 2006) and Mt. Gaoligong in northwest Yunnan (Pan et al., 2019) in China, Hponkanrazi Wildlife Sanctuary and Hkakaborazi National Park in Kachin, northern Myanmar (Rao et al., 2010, 2011), and Arunachal Pradesh in India (Dasgupta et al., 2010). However, Dasgupta et al. (2010) reported Mishmi takin's distribution across all districts of Arunachal Pradesh, which partly contradicts the result of this study. They modelled the distribution of takin using dense forest cover and altitudinal range of 1500 m to 3600 m. Whereas, this study used bioclimatic variables, topographic variables, vegetation-related variables, land cover, and anthropogenic factors. This difference in predictor variables could have potentially influenced the difference in result of predicted suitable habitat for Mishmi takin. However, takin is sensitive to anthropogenic activities and exhibit migration in response to food and temperature optimality. Therefore, the result of this study is more robust to such affects. The predicted current suitable habitat for Bhutan takin is 15,314 km². The area is distributed in northern Bhutan, northeast state of Sikkim and Arunachal Pradesh in India, and southeast Tibet in southwest China. The result is in coherence with Bhutan takin's winter habitat identified by NCD (2019) within Bhutan. Although takins are currently reported to be extinct in Sikkim (Dasgupta et al., 2010), it is worth noting that suitable habitat has been identified in Sikkim and Tibet. Historically, people have reported sighting Bhutan takin in Sikkim (Sharma et al., 2015). For instance, Bhutan takin was seen in Sikkim in 1976, again in 1984, and the last record in 1999 was seen and photographed by C. Lachungpa in Sikkim. Further, the distribution of Bhutan takin in Tibet is unclear but theory that takin moved through Tibet to Bhutan and Sikkim (Sharma et al., 2015) favours the finding of this study.

An underlying assumption of Maxent is that the entire study area has been systematically sampled (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013; Merow et al., 2013; Phillips et al., 2009). However, a systematic primary data collection was not feasible in this study mainly since the target species is distributed in four different countries, Bhutan, India, Myanmar, and China, which entail resource-intensive data collection exercises. Therefore, given the limited time and resources provided for the completion of this study, secondary data was collected from data owners of specific countries. Most of the data collected did not explicitly follow a sampling design rather, opportunistic sightings were recorded. Therefore, sampling bias is likely to occur. The most straightforward method to deal with sampling bias is to manipulate the presence data by removing the data from an over-sampled area using spatial filtering (Phillips et al., 2009). The occurrence records for target species of this study are already limited for deleting any valuable records from the set, but basic spatial filtering of keeping only one record per pixel was applied by enabling the "Remove duplicate presence record" option in the Maxent setting. The alternate suggested by Merow et al. (2013) when explicit information on survey effort is not known is based on Target Group Sampling (TGS). TGS uses the similarly collected occurrence points of taxonomically related species under the assumption that the surveyors would have documented the presence of focal species if it occurred there. It is incorporated

in Maxent by either creating a bias file with nonuniform weighing assigned to background points or a bias file that modifies the selection of background points within the study area. To acquire TGS for this study, Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) database (https://www.gbif.org/) was explored. A total of only 650 occurrence points were available for Mammalia taxa in the study area between 1990 to current year. These occurrence points were not covering the spatial extent of the study area and were not sufficient. Hence, this method of bias correction was not possible. Therefore, the results of this study could possibly be subjected to sampling bias. Nonetheless, given the facts, i) wildlife sighting locations are sensitive information that are not easily shared, ii) takins generally use remote area which limits both systematic or opportunistic data collection, and iii) Himalaya is a data deficient region, the data shared by respective data owners is the best available data to conduct this study.

Most of the suitable habitat for both subspecies falls within the conservation areas in respective countries. However, their population is in decreasing trend according to IUCN assessment (Song et al., 2008). Many prior studies have shown images (Dasgupta et al., 2010) and statistics (Rao et al., 2011) of takins being hunted for various purpose throughout their distribution range. Therefore, existing efforts of conservation don't seem rigorous enough in their defence. Hence, the suitable habitat maps produced in this study can further be used to device strict monitoring plans and identification of priority area for conservation of both subspecies. It is also recommended to establish transboundary collaboration since the suitable habitats are stretching across international boundaries.

4.2. The key environmental variables affecting habitat suitability of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are different

The result shows that the critical environmental variables which influence the habitat suitability of Mishmi takin are precipitation seasonality (bio15) and NDVI standard deviation. In the case of Bhutan takin, needleleaf forest and isothermality were found to be important. These variables are vegetation-related variables and bioclimatic variables. NDVI standard deviation and needleleaf forest cover are proxies for food resources that are available to both subspecies. The variation in rainfall fluctuates soil water content that considerably affects plant phenology, leaf and fruit development (Zeppel et al., 2013). Similarly, temperature fluctuations within a month relative to the year might have impacts on takin's seasonal routine. It is a reasonable finding which is validated by the ecological behaviour of takins, that is, the movement of takin is attributed to seasonal temperature changes and plant phenology (Guan et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2008, 2010).

Apart from the given set of variables, the habitat suitability of both subspecies is also affected by other factors such as predations and competition for resources like food and water that are not considered in this study. However, the responses of species to environmental conditions are hardly a result of a single ecological process (Harisena et al., 2021). So, the inclusion of all potential factors is complicated in many aspects. Additionally, the computation of variable importance assumes no spatial autocorrelation exists in the sample data. Therefore, spatial filtering of one sample per pixel (1 km) was applied. However, detailed spatial autocorrelation analysis was not conducted in this study. Furthermore, these results are limited to 1 km spatial resolution.

4.3. The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are not identical

The result of the identity test shows that the ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are not identical. It is backed by the different set of key environmental variables that constrain their habitat suitability which was identified in objective 2 of this study. The finding tells that characterizing the niche of Mishmi takin based on Bhutan takin's niche characteristics is not accurate and vice versa. Similar conclusions were drawn by researchers that conducted the similar test (Aguirre-Gutiérrez et al., 2015;

Zhao et al., 2019). Subsequently, the background test found the two subspecies to be more similar than expected. In other words, Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin share more characteristics of their environmental niches as compared to random expectation. In conclusion, the result of the identity test and background test highlights that although they are similar, they are not the same. Therefore, Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are two distinct subspecies under takin species, but not two different species in themselves. Previous studies have supported the same based on their morphology (Neas & Hoffmann, 1987; Sharma et al., 2015).

According to Warren et al. (2010), bias in identity tests can be introduced due to bias in sampling effort, sampling bias, and differences in the habitat available to the focal species in their spatially separated habitat. Hence, the result of equivalency is subjected to sampling bias in this study. Similarly, the result of background test is sensitive to the background range (Section 2.8) from which the species is believed to be selecting habitat. However, the background range selected for the background test was modelled with the best available species occurrence data, various predictor variables (Section 2.3) and species-specific model setting (Section 2.5) in this study. Therefore, the background range selected for the background test in this study is expected to be ecologically meaningful.

4.4. Impact of future climate change impact on Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin

Our results show that Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin will be negatively affected by climate change in future. The results revealed that the suitable habitats for both subspecies are likely to disappear in the Eastern Himalayas due to climate change. The future climate change impact in Eastern Himalayas is expected to be challenging (Sharma et al., 2009; Tse-ring et al., 2010), which backs these findings that the threat posed by changing climate to vulnerable species like takin is strong. Also, given the already limited geographic distribution of these subspecies, the loss of all its suitable habitat is largely possible.

However, the result is limited to eight variables and its uncertainties inherited from general circulation model (GCM). Uncertainty is a critical concern for all climate change assessment (Tang et al., 2018). Ignoring it can adversely affect the usefulness of climate change assessment outcomes for making conservation related decisions. Especially, such uncertainties are issues for evaluating future distribution of species given the multiple other sources of uncertainties in existence. Other sources of uncertainties are quality of species information/data, methodology used, predictor variables used, thresholds used for converting the continuous map to binary map, and model settings used. Therefore, the result of future prediction is likely to be associated these uncertainties. However, famous George Box, one of the great statistical minds of the 20th century said, "all models are wrong, but some are useful". Likewise, although these variables alone are not adequate enough to precisely predict what will happen to takin's habitat in future but, it can still make an important contribution especially when the current distribution of both subspecies are found to be constrained by bioclimatic factors like precipitation seasonality (bio15) and isothermality (bio3). Thus, the result of this impact analysis can help us understand the possibility of extremes entailed with future climate change.

Montane species are moving their distributions upslope in search of optimal climate due to climate change (Freeman et al., 2018). This indicates that species inhabiting higher-elevation have no more areas left to shift upslope when species living at lower-elevation encroach their space. These mountaintop species gradually face extinction over time. Although takins are not on the topmost elevation of the Eastern Himalayan mountains, a new record of Bhutan takin was confirmed by a camera trap at 4864 m in Bhutan recently (Dhendup et al., 2016). This possibly suggests that upslope movement in takins might have already begun even though human observation is limited in their remote habitat. Hence, adopting climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies at a local and global level is important. More immediately, it is

urgent to maintain protected habitat corridors across elevation gradient to avoid limiting the species movement in the face of on-going climate change.

5. CONCLUSIONS

This study predicted current suitable habitats for both Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas, and identified the key environmental variables influencing their potential distribution using ecological niche modelling. In addition to it, this study tested the niche similarity between the subspecies. Furthermore, this study also predicted the impact of future climate change on Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin. Based on the results I conclude that:

- 1. Approximately 28,154 km² of suitable habitat is currently available for Mishmi takin, which is widely distributed across southeast Tibet and northwest Yunnan in southwest China, Kachin state in northern Myanmar, and northeast state of Arunachal Pradesh in India. While about 15,314 km² of suitable habitat is currently available for Bhutan takin, which is sparsely distributed across northern Bhutan, northeast state of Sikkim and Arunachal Pradesh in India, and southeast Tibet in China.
- 2. The key environmental factors influencing the current habitat suitability of Mishmi takin are the precipitation seasonality and the standard deviation of NDVI. While the most important environmental factors influencing the current habitat suitability of Bhutan takin are the needleleaf forests and isothermality. Thus, the important environmental variables that determine the habitat suitability for both subspecies are different.
- 3. The ecological niches of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are similar but not the same. Thus, Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin are two distinct subspecies under takin species, but not two different species in themselves from an ecological perspective.
- 4. The future climate change will have a significant negative impact on the availability of suitable habitats for both Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin in the Eastern Himalayas. The suitable habitat for Bhutan takin is likely to be completely disappeared in this region under future climate change scenario. While only few suitable habitats are expected to remain due to future climate change.

The predicted current suitable habitats from this study are critical for the long-term survival of Mishmi takin and Bhutan takin. The suitable habitat for Mishmi takin can be treated as the baseline in initiating a transboundary conservation strategy and management plan. Similarly, the predicted suitable habitat for Bhutan takin can be used in conjunction with the prior findings to strengthen the conservation activities. Further, the impacts of projected future climate change on both subspecies are found to be disastrous. Therefore, conservation priority should also be given to these two subspecies with other prioritized wildlife in the region.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abdelaal, M., Fois, M., Fenu, G., & Bacchetta, G. (2019). Using MaxEnt modeling to predict the potential distribution of the endemic plant Rosa arabica Crép. in Egypt. *Ecological Informatics*, 50(August 2018), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2019.01.003
- Adkin, A., Bernier, D., & Santymire, R. M. (2012). Characterizing the behavior and reproductive biology of zoo-housed Sichuan takin (Budorcas taxicolor tibetana) using non-invasive techniques. *Theriogenology*, 78(3), 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.02.006
- Aguilar, G. D., Farnworth, M. J., & Winder, L. (2015). Mapping the stray domestic cat (Felis catus) population in New Zealand: Species distribution modelling with a climate change scenario and implications for protected areas. *Applied Geography*, 63, 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.06.019
- Aguirre-Gutiérrez, J., Serna-Chavez, H. M., Villalobos-Arambula, A. R., Pérez de la Rosa, J. A., & Raes, N. (2015). Similar but not equivalent: Ecological niche comparison across closely-related Mexican white pines. *Diversity and Distributions*, 21(3), 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12268
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., & Kadmon, R. (2006). Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: Prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(6), 1223–1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x
- Alvarado-Serrano, D. F., & Knowles, L. L. (2014). Ecological niche models in phylogeographic studies: Applications, advances and precautions. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 14(2), 233–248. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12184
- Anderson, R. P., & Gonzalez, I. (2011). Species-specific tuning increases robustness to sampling bias in models of species distributions: An implementation with Maxent. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(15), 2796– 2811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.04.011
- Anil, M. N. V., Kumari, K., & Wate, S. R. (2014). Loss of Biodiversity and Conservation Strategies: An Outlook of Indian Scenario. Asian Journal of Conservation Biology, 3(2), 105–114. Retrieved from http://www.ajcb.in/journals/full_papers_dec_2014/AJCB-Vol3-No2- Anil et al.pdf
- Banks, W. E., D'Errico, F., Peterson, A. T., Vanhaeren, M., Kageyama, M., Sepulchre, P., Ramstein, G., Jost, A., & Lunt, D. (2008). Human ecological niches and ranges during the LGM in Europe derived from an application of eco-cultural niche modeling. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 35(2), 481–491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2007.05.011
- Barnosky, A. D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G. O. U., Swartz, B., Quental, T. B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J. L., Lindsey, E. L., Maguire, K. C., Mersey, B., & Ferrer, E. A. (2011). Has the Earth's sixth mass extinction already arrived? *Nature*, 471, 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09678
- Basnet, D., Kandel, P., Chettri, N., Yang, Y., Lodhi, M. S., Htun, N. Z., Uddin, K., & Sharma, E. (2019). Biodiversity Research Trends and Gaps from the Confluence of Three Global Biodiversity Hotspots in the Far-Eastern Himalaya. *International Journal of Ecology*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/1323419
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W., & Courchamp, F. (2012). Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters*, 15(4), 365–377. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01736.x
- Bhatt, B. P., Rathore, S. S., Lemtur, M., & Sarkar, B. (2016). Fuelwood energy pattern and biomass resources in Eastern Himalaya. *Renewable Energy*, *94*, 410–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.03.042
- Borzée, A., Andersen, D., Groffen, J., Kim, H. T., Bae, Y., & Jang, Y. (2019). Climate change-based models predict range shifts in the distribution of the only Asian plethodontid salamander: Karsenia koreana. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-48310-1
- Broennimann, O., Fitzpatrick, M. C., Pearman, P. B., Petitpierre, B., Pellissier, L., Yoccoz, N. G., Thuiller, W., Fortin, M. J., Randin, C., Zimmermann, N. E., Graham, C. H., & Guisan, A. (2012). Measuring ecological niche overlap from occurrence and spatial environmental data. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(4), 481–497. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00698.x
- Brooks, T. M., Mittermeier, R. A., Da Fonseca, G. A. B., Gerlach, J., Hoffmann, M., Lamoreux, J. F., Mittermeier, C. G., Pilgrim, J. D., & Rodrigues, A. S. L. (2006). Global biodiversity conservation priorities. *Science*, 313(5783), 58–61. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1127609
- Brown, J. L. (2014). SDMtoolbox: a python-based GIS toolkit for landscape genetic, biogeographic and species distribution model analyses. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(7), 694–700.

https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12200

- Buras, A., & Menzel, A. (2019). Projecting tree species composition changes of european forests for 2061– 2090 under RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5 scenarios. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9(January), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01986
- Cao, Y., DeWalt, R. E., Robinson, J. L., Tweddale, T., Hinz, L., & Pessino, M. (2013). Using Maxent to model the historic distributions of stonefly species in Illinois streams: The effects of regularization and threshold selections. *Ecological Modelling*, 259, 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.03.012
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., MacE, G. M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D. A., Kinzig, A. P., Daily, G. C., Loreau, M., Grace, J. B., Larigauderie, A.,
 - Srivastava, D. S., & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486(7401), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Ceballos, G., & Ehrlich, P. R. (2002). Mammal population losses and the extinction crisis. *Science*, 296(5569), 904–907. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1069349
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., Barnosky, A. D., García, A., Pringle, R. M., & Palmer, T. M. (2015). Accelerated modern human-induced species losses: Entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances*, 1(5), 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1400253
- Chettri, N., Tsering, K., Shrestha, A., & Sharma, E. (2018). Ecological Vulnerability to Climate Change in the Mountains: A Case Study from the Eastern Himalayas. In A. P. Das & S. Bera (Eds.), *Plant Diversity in the Himalaya Hotspot Region*. M/s. Bishen Singh Mahendra Pal Singh, Dehradun, India. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/301656525. Ecological.wulperability.to.climate.change

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/301656525_Ecological_vulnerability_to_climate_change _in_the_mountains_a_case_study_from_the_Eastern_Himalayas

- Chhetri, N., Sharma, E., Shakya, B., Thapa, R., Bajracharya, B., Uddin, K., Oli, K., & Choudhury, D. (2010). *Biodiversity in the Eastern Himalayas: Status, Trends and Vulnerability of Climate Change* (E. Sharma (ed.)). ICIMOD, Kathmandu, Nepal. Retrieved from http://www.icimod.org/publications/index.php/search/publication/699
- Chhogyel, N., & Kumar, L. (2018). Climate change and potential impacts on agriculture in Bhutan: A discussion of pertinent issues. *Agriculture and Food Security*, 7(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-018-0229-6
- Dasgupta, S., Sarkar, S., Kayrong, Deori, D., Dada, T., Kaul, R., Ranjitsinh, M.K., & Menon. (2010). Distribution and status of takin (Budorcas taxicolor) along the Tibetan, Myanmar and Bhutan borders of India.
- Dhendup, T., Tempa, T., Tshering, T., & Norbu, N. (2016). New distribution record of the Bhutan Takin Budorcas taxicolor whitei Hodgson, 1850 (Cetartiodactyla: Bovidae) in Bhutan. *Journal of Threatened Taxa*, 8(11), 9365. https://doi.org/10.11609/jott.2876.8.11.9365-9366
- Díaz, S., Fargione, J., Chapin, F. S., & Tilman, D. (2006). Biodiversity loss threatens human well-being. *PLoS Biology*, 4(8), 1300–1305. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040277
- Dorji, S., Rajaratnam, R., Falconi, L., Williams, S. E., Sinha, P., & Vernes, K. (2018). Identifying conservation priorities for threatened Eastern Himalayan mammals. *Conservation Biology*, 32(5), 1162– 1173. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13115
- Du, Z., He, Y., Wang, H., Wang, C., & Duan, Y. (2021). Potential geographical distribution and habitat shift of the genus Ammopiptanthus in China under current and future climate change based on the MaxEnt model. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 184, 104328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2020.104328
- Elith, J., H. Graham, C., P. Anderson, R., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., J. Hijmans, R., Huettmann, F., R. Leathwick, J., Lehmann, A., Li, J., G. Lohmann, L., A. Loiselle, B., Manion, G., Moritz, C., Nakamura, M., Nakazawa, Y., McC. M. Overton, J., Townsend Peterson, A., ... E. Zimmermann, N. (2006). Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. *Ecography*, 29(2), 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2006.0906-7590.04596.x
- Elith, J., Kearney, M., & Phillips, S. (2010). The art of modelling range-shifting species. *Methods in Ecology* and Evolution, 1(4), 330–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2010.00036.x
- Elith, J., & Leathwick, J. R. (2009). Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), 677–697. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120159
- Elith, J., Phillips, S. J., Hastie, T., Dudík, M., Chee, Y. E., & Yates, C. J. (2011). A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. *Diversity and Distributions*, 17(1), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00725.x

- ESRI. (2016). Lambert Conformal Conic—Help | ArcGIS for Desktop. https://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/10.3/guide-books/map-projections/lambert-conformalconic.htm
- Fielding, A. H., & Bell, J. F. (1997). A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. *Environmental Conservation*, 24(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892997000088
- Flato, G., Marotzke, J., Abiodun, B., Braconnot, P., Chou, S. C., Collins, W., Cox, P., Driouech, F., Emori, S., Eyring, V., Forest, C., Gleckler, P., Guilyardi, E., Jakob, C., Kattsov, V., Reason, C., & Rummukainen, M. (2013). Evaluation of climate models. In I. Held, A. Pitman, S. Planton, & Z.-C. Zhao (Eds.), *Climate Change 2013 the Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 741–866). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.020
- Freeman, B. G., Scholer, M. N., Ruiz-Gutierrez, V., & Fitzpatrick, J. W. (2018). Climate change causes upslope shifts and mountaintop extirpations in a tropical bird community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(47), 11982–11987. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804224115
- Fuller, T., Morton, D. P., & Sarkar, S. (2008). Incorporating uncertainty about species' potential distributions under climate change into the selection of conservation areas with a case study from the Arctic Coastal Plain of Alaska. *Biological Conservation*, 141(6), 1547–1559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.03.021
- Gao, X., Zhao, Z., Ding, Y., Huang, R., & Giorgi, F. (2001). Climate Change due to Greenhouse Effects in China as Simulated by a Regional Climate Model. *Advances in Atmospheric Sciences*, 18(6), 1223–1229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00376-001-0036-y
- Gautam, M. R., Timilsina, G. R., & Acharya, K. (2013). Climate change: The current state of knowledge. In *Policy Research Working Paper*. The World Bank. Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/15875
- Gibson, L., McNeill, A., Tores, P. de, Wayne, A., & Yates, C. (2010). Will future climate change threaten a range restricted endemic species, the quokka (Setonix brachyurus), in south west Australia? *Biological Conservation*, 143(11), 2453–2461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.06.011
- Gopalakrishnan, R., Jayaraman, M., Bala, G., & Ravindranath, N. H. (2011). Climate change and Indian forests. *Current Science*, 101(3), 348–355. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/24078514?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Graham, C. H., Ferrier, S., Huettman, F., Moritz, C., & Peterson, A. T. (2004). New developments in museum-based informatics and applications in biodiversity analysis. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 19(9), 497–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.07.006
- Grinnell, J. (1917). The Niche-Relationships of the California Thrasher. *Auk*, *34*(4), 427–433. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/4072271?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Grohmann, C. H. (2015). Effects of spatial resolution on slope and aspect derivation for regional-scale analysis. *Computers and Geosciences*, 77, 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2015.02.003
- Groves, C. R., Jensen, D. B., Valutis, L. L., Redford, K. H., Shaffer, M. L., Scott, J. M., Baumgartner, J. V., Higgins, J. V., Beck, M. W., & Anderson, M. G. (2002). Planning for biodiversity conservation: Putting conservation science into practice. *BioScience*, 52(6), 499–512. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0499:PFBCPC]2.0.CO;2
- Groves, P. (1992). Aspects of golden takin ecology in the Qinling Mountains, China. Rangifer, 12(3), 161. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.12.3.1033
- Guan, Ge, T. P., Ming, B., McShea, J.Li, W., Song, S., Stewart, Y. L., & M., C. (2013). Seasonal migration by a large forest ungulate: A study on takin (Budorcas taxicolor) in Sichuan Province, China. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 59(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-012-0650-2
- Guan, T., Wang, F., Li, S., & McShea, W. J. (2015). Nature reserve requirements for landscape-dependent ungulates: The case of endangered takin (Budorcas taxicolor) in Southwestern China. *Biological Conservation*, *182*, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.041
- Guisan, A., & Thuiller, W. (2005). Predicting species distribution: Offering more than simple habitat models. *Ecology Letters*, 8(9), 993–1009. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00792.x
- Harisena, N. V., Groen, T. A., Toxopeus, A. G., & Naimi, B. (2021). When is variable importance estimation in species distribution modelling affected by spatial correlation? *Ecography*, 44(5), 778–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.05534

- Hirzel, A. H., Le Lay, G., Helfer, V., Randin, C., & Guisan, A. (2006). Evaluating the ability of habitat suitability models to predict species presences. *Ecological Modelling*, 199(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.05.017
- Hua, W., Zejun, Z., Jie, H., & Jinchu, H. (2002). A Preliminary Study on Habitat Use of Sichuan Takin in Spring and Winter. *Chinese Journal of Zoology*, *37*(1), 23—27. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/abstract/CBA/373655
- Huang, Z., Bai, Y., Alatalo, J. M., & Yang, Z. (2020). Mapping biodiversity conservation priorities for protected areas: A case study in Xishuangbanna Tropical Area, China. *Biological Conservation*, 249, 108741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108741
- IPBES. (2019). IPBES Global Assessment Summary for Policymakers. Retrieved from https://ipbes.net/globalassessment
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report Summary for Policymakers. IPCC 5th Assessment Report, 1–31. Retrieved from

https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/AR5_SYR_FINAL_SPM.pdf

- IUCN. (2020). IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Retrieved from https://www.iucnredlist.org/
- Jena, P., Azad, S., & Rajeevan, M. N. (2015). Statistical selection of the optimum models in the CMIP5 dataset for climate change projections of Indian monsoon rainfall. *Climate*, *3*(4), 858–875. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli3040858
- José, S. R., Pérez, J. L., González, R. M., Pecci, J., Garzón, A., & Palacios, M. (2016). Impacts of the 4.5 and 8.5 RCP global climate scenarios on urban meteorology and air quality: Application to Madrid, Antwerp, Milan, Helsinki and London. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 293, 192–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2015.04.024
- Kaky, E., Nolan, V., Alatawi, A., & Gilbert, F. (2020). A comparison between Ensemble and MaxEnt species distribution modelling approaches for conservation: A case study with Egyptian medicinal plants. *Ecological Informatics*, 60, 101150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2020.101150
- Khanum, R., Mumtaz, A. S., & Kumar, S. (2013). Predicting impacts of climate change on medicinal asclepiads of Pakistan using Maxent modeling. *Acta Oecologica*, 49, 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2013.02.007
- Kou, J., Wang, T., Yu, F., Sun, Y., Feng, C., & Shao, X. (2020). The moss genus Didymodon as an indicator of climate change on the Tibetan Plateau. *Ecological Indicators*, 113, 106204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106204
- Kramer-Schadt, S., Niedballa, J., Pilgrim, J. D., Schröder, B., Lindenborn, J., Reinfelder, V., Stillfried, M., Heckmann, I., Scharf, A. K., Augeri, D. M., Cheyne, S. M., Hearn, A. J., Ross, J., Macdonald, D. W., Mathai, J., Eaton, J., Marshall, A. J., Semiadi, G., Rustam, R., ... Wilting, A. (2013). The importance of correcting for sampling bias in MaxEnt species distribution models. *Diversity and Distributions*, 19(11), 1366–1379. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12096
- Kumar, A., Gautam, K. B., Singh, B., Yadav, P., Gopi, G. V., & Gupta, S. K. (2019). Sequencing and characterization of the complete mitochondrial genome of Mishmi takin (Budorcas taxicolor taxicolor) and comparison with the other Caprinae species. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 137, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.06.201
- Lamsal, P., Kumar, L., Aryal, A., & Atreya, K. (2018). Future climate and habitat distribution of Himalayan Musk Deer (Moschus chrysogaster). *Ecological Informatics*, 44, 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2018.02.004
- Liu, C., Newell, G., & White, M. (2016). On the selection of thresholds for predicting species occurrence with presence-only data. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(1), 337–348. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1878
- Mackenzie, D. I. (2005). WHAT ARE THE ISSUES WITH PRESENCE ABSENCE DATA FOR WILDLIFE MANAGERS ? Journal of Wildlife Management, 69(3), 849–860. Retrieved from http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.2193/0022-541X(2005)069%5B0849:WATIWP%5D2.0.CO%3B2
- Manish, K., Telwala, Y., Nautiyal, D. C., & Pandit, M. K. (2016). Modelling the impacts of future climate change on plant communities in the Himalaya: a case study from Eastern Himalaya, India. *Modeling Earth Systems and Environment*, 2(2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-016-0163-1
- Merow, C., Smith, M. J., & Silander, J. A. (2013). A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: What it does, and why inputs and settings matter. *Ecography*, 36(10), 1058–1069. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.07872.x
- Morales, N. S., Fernández, I. C., & Baca-González, V. (2017). MaxEnt's parameter configuration and small samples: Are we paying attention to recommendations? A systematic review. *PeerJ*, *5*, e3093.

https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3093

- Muscarella, R., Galante, P. J., Soley-Guardia, M., Boria, R. A., Kass, J. M., Uriarte, M., & Anderson, R. P. (2014). ENMeval: An R package for conducting spatially independent evaluations and estimating optimal model complexity for Maxent ecological niche models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(11), 1198–1205. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12261
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R. A., Mittermeier, C. G., da Fonseca, G. A. B., & Kent, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, 403(6772), 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- NCD. (2019). Distribution and winter habitat use of Bhutan Takin, Burdocas taxicolor whitei, in Bhutan. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338297641_Distribution_and_winter_habitat_use_of_B hutan_Takin_Burdocas_taxicolor_whitei_in_Bhutan

- Neas, J. F., & Hoffmann, R. S. (1987). Budorcas taxicolor. *Mammalian Species*, 277, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.2307/3503907
- Oli, K. P. (2003). The Potential for a Transboundary Protected Area in the Kanchanjungha Region of the Eastern Himalayas. In *Assessment*. Retrieved from https://www.tbpa.net/docs/WPCGovernance/KrishnaOli.pdf
- Pan, W. Bin, Ding, W., He, X. D., Zhang, L. X., Zhao, X. F., Ma, C., Huang, Z. P., Ren, G. P., & Xiao, W. (2019). Low input parks strategy can work: Dynamic profile of Mishmi Takins under constrained conservation management in Mt. Gaoligong, China. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 19(2), e00659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00659
- Pandit, M. K., Sodhi, N. S., Koh, L. P., Bhaskar, A., & Brook, B. W. (2007). Unreported yet massive deforestation driving loss of endemic biodiversity in Indian Himalaya. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 16(1), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-006-9038-5
- Panthi, S., Wang, T., Sun, Y., & Thapa, A. (2019). An assessment of human impacts on endangered red pandas (Ailurus fulgens) living in the Himalaya. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(23), 13413–13425. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5797
- Pearce, J., & Ferrier, S. (2000). Evaluating the predictive performance of habitat models developed using logistic regression. *Ecological Modelling*, 133(3), 225–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(00)00322-7
- Pearce, J. L., & Boyce, M. S. (2006). Modelling distribution and abundance with presence-only data. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(3), 405–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01112.x
- Pecchi, M., Marchi, M., Burton, V., Giannetti, F., Moriondo, M., Bernetti, I., Bindi, M., & Chirici, G. (2019). Species distribution modelling to support forest management. A literature review. *Ecological Modelling*, 411, 108817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2019.108817
- Pengju, W., & Endi, Z. (2006). Habitat selection of takin (Budorcas taxicolor) in Cibagou Nature Reserve of Tibet, China. *Shou Lei Xue Bao* = *Acta Theriologica Sinica*, *26*(2), 152—158. http://europepmc.org/abstract/CBA/618679
- Penjor, U., Wangdi, S., Tandin, T., & Macdonald, D. W. (2020). Vulnerability of mammal communities to the combined impacts of anthropic land-use and climate change in the Himalayan conservation landscape of Bhutan. *Ecological Indicators*, October, 107085. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.107085
- Pettorelli, N., Vik, J. O., Mysterud, A., Gaillard, J. M., Tucker, C. J., & Stenseth, N. C. (2005). Using the satellite-derived NDVI to assess ecological responses to environmental change. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 20(9), 503–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.05.011
- Phillips, S. J. (2017). A Brief Tutorial on Maxent. Retrieved from https://biodiversityinformatics.amnh.org/open_source/maxent/Maxent_tutorial2017.pdf
- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., & Schapire, R. E. (2006). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological Modelling*, 6(2–3), 231–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.03.026
- Phillips, S. J., & Dudík, M. (2008). Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: New extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. *Ecography*, 31(2), 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.5203.x
- Phillips, S. J., Dudík, M., Elith, J., Graham, C. H., Lehmann, A., Leathwick, J., & Ferrier, S. (2009). Sample selection bias and presence-only distribution models: Implications for background and pseudoabsence data. *Ecological Applications*, 19(1), 181–197. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-2153.1
- Phillips, S. J., & Elith, J. (2010). POC plots: Calibrating species distribution models with presence-only data. *Ecology*, *91*(8), 2476–2484. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-0760.1

- Qin, A., Liu, B., Guo, Q., Bussmann, R. W., Ma, F., Jian, Z., Xu, G., & Pei, S. (2017). Maxent modeling for predicting impacts of climate change on the potential distribution of Thuja sutchuenensis Franch., an extremely endangered conifer from southwestern China. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 10, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2017.02.004
- Rao, M., Htun, S., Platt, S. G., Tizard, R., Poole, C., Myint, T., & Watson, J. E. M. (2013). Biodiversity conservation in a changing climate: A review of threats and implications for conservation planning in myanmar. *Ambio*, 42(7), 789–804. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-013-0423-5
- Rao, M., Htun, S., Zaw, T., & Myint, T. (2010). Hunting, livelihoods and declining wildlife in the Hponkanrazi wildlife sanctuary, North Myanmar. *Environmental Management*, 46(2), 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-010-9519-x
- Rao, M., Zaw, T., Htun, S., & Myint, T. (2011). Hunting for a living: Wildlife trade, rural livelihoods and declining wildlife in the Hkakaborazi National Park, north Myanmar. *Environmental Management*, 48(1), 158–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-011-9662-z
- Rathore, P., Roy, A., & Karnatak, H. (2019). Modelling the vulnerability of Taxus wallichiana to climate change scenarios in South East Asia. *Ecological Indicators*, 102, 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.02.020
- Rawat, G. S., & Sathyakumar, S. (2002). Conservation issues in the Himalayan region of India. In Wildlife and Protected Areas (Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp. 50–56). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344403093_Conservation_Issues_in_the_Himalayan_Re gions_of_India
- Rodríguez-Castañeda, G., Hof, A. R., Jansson, R., & Harding, L. E. (2012). Predicting the Fate of Biodiversity Using Species' Distribution Models: Enhancing Model Comparability and Repeatability. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), e44402. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044402
- Royal Government of Bhutan. (1995). Forests and Nature Conservation Act of Bhutan. Royal Government of Bhutan. Retrieved from https://www.nationalcouncil.bt/assets/uploads/docs/acts/2017/Forest-and-Nature-Conservation-Act-of-Bhutan1995_English_1.pdf
- Sangay, T., Rajaratnam, R., & Vernes, K. (2016). Current distribution and conservation status of Bhutan Takin Budorcas whitei Lydekker, 1907 (Artiodactyla: Bovidae). *Journal of Threatened Taxa*, 8(14), 9630–9637. https://doi.org/10.11609/jott.2925.8.14.9630-9637

Sathyakumar, S., & Bashir, T. (2010). Wildlife of the Himalaya : Conservation Issues and the Way Forward. In S. Arora, B. Negi, S. Bhan, & J. Bali (Eds.), *Mountain Ecosystem & Man* (pp. 322–343). Soil Conservation Society of India, New Delhi. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sathyakumar-Sambandam/publication/296403084_Wildlife_of_the_Himalaya_Conservation_Issues_and_the_Wa y_Forward/links/56e7954308ae4cbe4d430731/Wildlife-of-the-Himalaya-Conservation-Issues-andthe-Way-Forward.pdf

- Schaller, G. B., Qitao, T., Wenshi, P. A. N., Zisheng, Q. I. N., Xiaoming, W., Jinchu, H. U., & Heming, S. (1986). Feeding behavior of Sichuan takin (Budorcas taxicolor). *Mammalia*, 50(3), 311–322. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1515/mamm.1986.50.3.311
- Sharma, D., Wanghuk, T., Rawat, G. S., & Johnsingh, A. J. . (2015). Takin, Budorcas taxicolor. In Mammals of South Asia, 2(277), 1. https://doi.org/10.2307/3503907
- Sharma, E., Chettri, N., Eriksson, M., Jing, F., Mool, P., Shrestha, A. B., & Tse-ring, K. (2009). Climate Change Impacts and Vulnerability in the Eastern Himalayas. Retrieved from https://lib.icimod.org/record/26800
- Shrestha, A. ., & Devkota, L. . (2010). Climate Change in the Eastern Himalayas : Observed Trends and Model Projections. In *Icimod.* Retrieved from http://www.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/files/climate_change_in_the_eastern_himalayas_obser ved_trends_and_model_projections.pdf
- Sillero, N., & Barbosa, A. M. (2021). Common mistakes in ecological niche models. International Journal of Geographical Information Science, 35(2), 213–226. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2020.1798968
- Simard, M., Pinto, N., Fisher, J. B., & Baccini, A. (2011). Mapping forest canopy height globally with spaceborne lidar. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 116, G04021. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001708
- Simberloff, D. (1998). Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: Is single-species management passe in the landscape era? *Biological Conservation*, *83*(3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(97)00081-5
- Sinclair, A. R. E. (2003). Mammal population regulation, keystone processes and ecosystem dynamics.

Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 358(1438), 1729–1740. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2003.1359

Song, Y.-L., Smith, A. T., & MacKinnon, J. (2008a). Budorcas taxicolor, Takin. In *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* (Vol. 8235).

https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2008.RLTS.T3160A9643719.en.

- Song, Y.-L., Smith, A. T., & MacKinnon, J. (2008b). Budorcas taxicolor (Takin). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, 8235. Retrieved from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/3160/0
- Swanepoel, L. H., Lindsey, P., Somers, M. J., van Hoven, W., & Dalerum, F. (2013). Extent and fragmentation of suitable leopard habitat in South Africa. *Animal Conservation*, 16(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2012.00566.x
- Syphard, A. D., Franklin, J., & Keeley, J. E. (2006). Simulating the effects of frequent fire on southern california coastal shrublands. *Ecological Applications*, 16(5), 1744–1756. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[1744:STEOFF]2.0.CO;2
- Tang, Y., Winkler, J. A., Viña, A., Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., Li, X., Wang, F., Zhang, J., & Zhao, Z. (2018). Uncertainty of future projections of species distributions in mountainous regions. *PLoS* ONE, 13(1), e0189496. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189496
- Telwala, Y., Brook, B. W., Manish, K., & Pandit, M. K. (2013). Climate-Induced Elevational Range Shifts and Increase in Plant Species Richness in a Himalayan Biodiversity Epicentre. *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e57103. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057103
- Thorn, J. S., Nijman, V., Smith, D., & Nekaris, K. A. I. (2009). Ecological niche modelling as a technique for assessing threats and setting conservation priorities for Asian slow lorises (Primates: Nycticebus). *Diversity and Distributions*, *15*(2), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00535.x
- Tiawsirisup, S., Khlaikhayai, T., & Nithiuthai, S. (2005). A preliminary study on in vitro transmission of Dirofilaria immitis infective stage larvae by Aedes aegypti (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae). In S. N. Singh (Ed.), The Southeast Asian journal of tropical medicine and public health: Vol. 36 Suppl 4 (Environmental Science and Engineering). ICIMOD. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16438186/
- Tollefson, J. (2019). One million species face extinction. *Infocus News*. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-019-01448-4
- Townsend Peterson, A., Sánchez-Cordero, V., Ben Beard, C., & Ramsey, J. M. (2002). Ecologic niche modeling and potential reservoirs for Chagas disease, Mexico. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 8(7), 662– 667. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0807.010454
- Tse-ring, K., Sharma, E., Chettri, N., & Shrestha, A. (2010). Climate Change Vulnerability of Mountain Ecosystems in the Eastern Himalayas; Climate Change Impact and Vulnerability in the Eastern Himalayas-Synthesis Report. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258885271 Climate.change_vulnerability.of_moun

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258885271_Climate_change_vulnerability_of_mountain _ecosystems_in_the_Eastern_Himalayas_-_Synthesis_report

- Tuanmu, M. N., & Jetz, W. (2014). A global 1-km consensus land-cover product for biodiversity and ecosystem modelling. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *23*(9), 1031–1045. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12182
- Wang, T., Skidmore, A. K., Zeng, Z., Beck, P. S. A., Si, Y., Song, Y., Liu, X., & Prins, H. H. T. (2010). Migration patterns of two endangered sympatric species from a remote sensing perspective. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, 76(12), 1343–1352. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.76.12.1343
- Wang, Z., Ye, W., Cao, H., Huang, Z., Lian, J., Li, L., Wei, S., & Sun, I. F. (2009). Species-topography association in a species-rich subtropical forest of China. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 10(7), 648–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2009.03.002
- Wangchuk, T. R., Wegge, P., & Sangay, T. (2016). Habitat and diet of Bhutan takin Budorcas taxicolor whitei during summer in Jigme Dorji National Park, Bhutan. *Journal of Natural History*, 50(11–12), 759–770. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222933.2015.1079658
- Warren, D. L., Glor, R. E., & Turelli, M. (2008). Environmental niche equivalency versus conservatism: Quantitative approaches to niche evolution. *Evolution*, 62(11), 2868–2883. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.2008.00482.x
- Warren, D. L., Glor, R. E., & Turelli, M. (2010). ENMTools: A toolbox for comparative studies of environmental niche models. *Ecography*, 33(3), 607–611. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2009.06142.x
- Warren, D. L., Matzke, N. J., Cardillo, M., Baumgartner, J. B., Beaumont, L. J., Turelli, M., Glor, R. E., Huron, N. A., Simões, M., Iglesias, T. L., Piquet, J. C., & Dinnage, R. (2021). ENMTools 1.0: an R

package for comparative ecological biogeography. *Ecography*, 44(4), 504–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.05485

- Warren, D. L., & Seifert, S. N. (2011). Ecological niche modeling in Maxent: The importance of model complexity and the performance of model selection criteria. *Ecological Applications*, 21(2), 335–342. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1171.1
- Wei, B., Wang, R., Hou, K., Wang, X., & Wu, W. (2018). Predicting the current and future cultivation regions of Carthamus tinctorius L. using MaxEnt model under climate change in China. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 16, e00477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2018.e00477
- Wei, W., Huang, Y. Y., Zhou, H., Yuan, S. Bin, Zhou, Z. X., Nie, Y. G., & Zhang, Z. J. (2017). Microhabitat separation between giant panda and golden takin in the Qinling Mountains and implications for conservation. North-Western Journal of Zoology, 13(1), 109–117. Retrieved from https://biozoojournals.ro/nwjz/content/v13n1/nwjz_e161701_Wei.pdf
- Williams, K. J., Belbin, L., Austin, M. P., Stein, J. L., & Ferrier, S. (2012). Which environmental variables should I use in my biodiversity model? *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 26(11), 2009–2047. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2012.698015
- Wilson, E. O. (1989). Threats to Biodiversity. *Scientific American*, 261(3), 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0989-108
- WorldClim. (2020). *Bioclimatic variables*. Retrieved from https://www.worldclim.org/data/bioclim.html#:~:text=The bioclimatic variables represent annual,the wet and dry quarters).
- Xu, D., Zhuo, Z., Wang, R., Ye, M., & Pu, B. (2019). Modeling the distribution of Zanthoxylum armatum in China with MaxEnt modeling. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 19, e00691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00691
- Xu, J., Grumbine, R. E., Shrestha, A., Eriksson, M., Yang, X., Wang, Y., & Wilkes, A. (2009). The melting Himalayas: Cascading effects of climate change on water, biodiversity, and livelihoods. *Conservation Biology*, 23(3), 520–530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01237.x
- Yan, W. B., Zeng, Z. G., Gong, H. S., He, X. B., Liu, X. Y., Ma, Y. S., & Song, Y. L. (2017). Seasonal variation and sexual difference of home ranges by takins. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 81(5), 938– 942. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21247
- Yu, F., Wang, T., Groen, T. A., Skidmore, A. K., Yang, X., Ma, K., & Wu, Z. (2019). Climate and land use changes will degrade the distribution of Rhododendrons in China. *Science of the Total Environment*, 659, 515–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.223
- Zeng, Z.-G., Skidmore, A. K., Song, Y.-L., Wang, T.-J., & Gong, H.-S. (2008). Seasonal Altitudinal Movements of Golden Takin in the Qinling Mountains of China. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 72(3), 611–617. https://doi.org/10.2193/2007-197
- Zeng, Z. G., Beck, P. S. A., Wang, T. J., Skidmore, A. K., Song, Y. L., Gong, H. S., & Prins, H. H. T. (2010). Effects of plant phenology and solar radiation on seasonal movement of golden takin in the qinling mountains, China. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 91(1), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1644/08-MAMM-A-390R.1.
- Zeng, Z., Wenqin, Z., Yanling, S., Junsheng, L., Leigang, Z., & Huisheng, G. (2003). Present Status of Studies on Eco-Biology of Takin. *Shou Lei Xue Bao* = *Acta Theriologica Sinica*, *23*(2), 161–167. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285237861_Present_status_of_studies_on_eco-biology_of_takin

- Zeppel, M., Wilks, J., & Lewis, J. D. (2013). Impacts of extreme precipitation and seasonal changes in precipitation on plants. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 10, 16645–16673. https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-10-16645-2013
- Zhang, K., Yao, L., Meng, J., & Tao, J. (2018). Maxent modeling for predicting the potential geographical distribution of two peony species under climate change. *Science of the Total Environment*, 634, 1326– 1334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.112
- Zhao, Q., Zhang, H., & Wei, J. (2019). Climatic niche comparison across a cryptic species complex. *PeerJ*, 2019(5), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7042